THESES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE

* National

National Library of Canada Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

'Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests; etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les d'ocuments qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

Canadä

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Division

Division des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

63940

PERMISSION TO MICROFILM — AUTORISATION DE MICROFILMER

Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier

Full Name of Author - Nom complet de l'auteur

FREDERICE TAKASHI SONODA

Date of Birth - Date de naissance

DEC. 14, 1946

Permanent Address — Residence fixe

18523-711UE

EDMONTON, ALTA

Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse

JOB SATISFACTION OF FURTHER
EDUCATION COORDINATORS IN ACBERTA

University - Université

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Degree for which thesis was presented — Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée

MASTER OF EOULATION

Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade

1.983

Name of Supervisor - Nom du directeur de thèse

DR. D. A. MACKAY

Country of Birth - Lieu de naissance

CANADA

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

Date

March 30/87

Signature

J. J.

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

JOB SATISFACTION OF FURTHER EDUCATION COORDINATORS IN ALBERTA

by

FREDERICK TAKASHI SONODA

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF EDUCATION

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL ADMINISTRATION

EDMONTON, ALBERTA
SPRING, 1983

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR

Frederick Takashi-Sonoda

TITLE OF THESIS

Job Satisfaction of Further Education Coordinators in Alberta

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED

Master of Education

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED

1983

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(Signed)

PERMANENT ADDRESS:

18523 - 71 Ave. Edmonton, Alberta T5T 217

DATED March 24..., 1983.

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled JOB SATISFACTION OF FURTHER EDUCATION COORDINATORS IN ALBERTA submitted by FREDERICK TAKASHI SONODA in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education.

Supervisor

Date . M. usch 2.4. /83.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to investigate the job satisfaction experienced by the Further Education Coordinators in Alberta. More specifically, the study sought to determine the level of overall job satisfaction, the aspects and facets of the job as contributing to job satisfaction and dissatisfaction, the importance of the job facets to satisfaction, and the relationships among the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics of the coordinators with job satisfaction. In addition, the degree of consistency of the study findings with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction developed by Hertzberg was investigated.

Seventy-eight coordinators employed as of November 2, 1982 comprised the study population. Sixty-four useable questionnaires were returned from the 74 questionnaires that were mailed. The sample population, including the pretest participants, consisted of 68 further education coordinators.

Data were collected on the individual characteristics of the respondents, the ratings of overall job satisfaction, the satisfaction associated with and the importance attached to the 32 job facet items, and the aspects of the job identified by the respondents as sources of job satisfaction and dissatisfaction. The data were subjected to appropriate content analysis and statistical analysis procedures.

The findings indicated that coordinators generally experienced moderate overall job satisfaction. The job facets most associated with satisfaction and considered most important to job satisfaction were related to the interaction with the council. The freedom to introduce

new ideas to the council, the relationship with council members, and the willingness of the council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations were indicated as the most satisfying and important facets of the job. Least satisfaction was expressed with the facets of the job that involved salary matters and the accessibility to clerical assistance.

The analysis of variance statistical procedure revealed that coordinators with postsecondary institutions as designated local hosting authorities were more satisfied with the job in all its aspects than were coordinators with school authorities as designated local hosting authorities. It was further indicated that coordinators with a year or less of administrative experience were more satisfied with the working conditions than coordinators with five to seven years of administrative experience. Coordinators with a high level of participation in community organizations (seven or more organizations) were found to be less satisfied than were the other groups with fewer organizational commitments on the nature of the work involved and those activities associated with the designated local hosting authority. The group with the fewest organizational commitments (one to three organizations) was revealed to be significantly less satisfied than the group with a middle range of commitments (four to six organizations) on those activities involved with the designated local hosting authority.

The content analysis of the open-responses identifying the sources of job satisfaction and dissatisfaction indicated that satisfaction was most related to the recognition and responsibility aspects of the job. Dissatisfaction was most attributed to the aspects of the job associated with salary matters, administrative policies and

procedures, and interpersonal relationships. The regrouping of the open-responses as motivator and hygiene variables indicated that the findings were consistent with Hertzberg's dual-factor theory of satisfaction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The writer wishes to acknowledge the support and assistance of the many people who helped make this study possible. I am very appreciative of the assistance and patience provided to me by my thesis supervisor, Dr. D.A. MacKay. Thanks also to the other members of the thesis committee, Dr. H. Roberts and Dr. K.L. Ward, for their interest in the study.

The assistance extended to me by Mrs. Christiane Prokop in regards to the computer programs is gratefully acknowledged. In addition, for the advice and support provided by Further Education Services, Department of Advanced Education many thanks are expressed.

Most thanks are reserved for my wife Diane for her support and assistance for the duration of the program. Her proofreading, advice, and typing for all the course and thesis requirements were of immense assistance and gratefully appreciated.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPT	TER CONTRACTOR OF THE CONTRACT	PAGE
I	INTRODUCTION	1
-	PURPOSE OF THE STUDY	.4
	STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEMS	4
•	DEFINITION OF TERMS	7
•	LIMITATIONS AND DELIMITATIONS	8
	ASSUMPTIONS	9
II	REVIEW OF LITTEE	10 .
	THEORETICAL AMEWORKS FOR JOB SATISFACTION	→ 10
1	The Subjective Approach	12
	The Intrinsic Approach	14
	The Interactionist Approach	16
	JOB SATISFACTION RESEARCH WITH ADULT EDUCATORS	18
	JOB SATISFACTION RESEARCH IN AREAS OTHER THAN ADULT EDUCATION	20
	Research in Other Occupational Areas	20
	Research in Job Withdrawal	21
	Research on Selected Individual Characteristics and Satisfaction	21
III	RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	25
	THE RESEARCH INSTRUMENT	25
	PILOT TESTING	27
	DATA COLLECTION	28
	The Sample	28 ^
:	Procedures	29
	Returns	29

CHAPTER		PAGE
\ IV I	DATA ANALYSIS	30"
	SECTION 1 DESCRIPTION OF RESPONDENTS	31
)		. '
ų .·		31
		31
* *	Age	32
	Other employment	32
	Population of community	32
	Location by region	32
	Professional Characteristics	35
	Years of experience as coordinator	35
	Years of administrative experience in educational setting	* 35
	Highest level of schooling	35 [.]
	Professional development/continuing education activities attended	39
•	Membership and participation in organizations	39
•	Organizational Characteristics	39
	Primary area of work involvement	40
	Hours per week paid as coordinator	40
	Salary level	40
	Type of designated local hosting authority	43.
	Summary	43
	SECTION 2 PROBLEM 1: OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION	45
	Sub-Problem 1.1	45
	Sub-Problem 1.2	47
•	Sub-Problem 1.3	53
	Summary	55

CHAPTI		PAGI
IV	SECTION 3 PROBLEM 2: FACET SATISFACTION AND IMPORTANCE	59
	Sub-Problem 2.1	59
	Sub-Problem 2.2	60
v.	√Sub-Problem 2.3	63
٠	Summary	65
•	SECTION 4 PROBLEM 3: OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AND COORDINATOR CHARACTERISTICS	66
•	Sub-Problem 3,1	66
	Sex	66
•	Age	72
	Other employment	. 72
•	Population of community	72
•	Location by region	72
	Sub-Problem 3.2	72
v	Coordinator experience	73
	Administrative experience	73
	Level of schooling	73
	Attendance at professional development/continuing education activities	73
	Membership and participation in community organizations	
	Sub-Problem 3.3	73
	Primary area of involvement; hours per week on administrative activities	79 79
•	Primary area of involvement; hours per week on leadership activities	73 79
	Hours per week paid as coordinator	79

CHAPTE		PAGE
· IV	Salary level	79
	Type of designated local hosting authority	85
	Summary	85
· •	SECTION 5 PROBLEM 4: SATISFACTION AND JOB FACTORS	86
•	Sub-Problem 4.1	86
	Factor 1: Liaison with Council	. 87 -
	Factor 2: Liaison with Further Education Services	87
	Factor 3: Working Conditions	87 '
•	Factor 4: Recognition	92
	Factor 5: Coordinator-Community Work Involvement	92
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Factor 6: Work Demands	92
	Factor 7: Liaison with Designated Local Hosting	•
	Authority	93
r	Sulb-Problem 4.2	93 ,
•	Summary	95
f	SECTION 6 PROBLEM 5: SATISFACTION FACTORS AND COORDINATOR CHARACTERISTICS	.96
	Sub-Problem 5.1	96
	Sex	96
	Age	98
0	Other employment	98
	Population of community	98
	Location by region	98
1 2 · \$	Sub-Problem 5.2	98
	Coordinator experience	99
		•

CHAPTER	PAGE
IV Administrative experience in an educational	
setting	99
Level of schooling	••• 9 9
Attendance at professional development/continuin education activities	
Membership and participation in community organizations	102
Sub-Problem 5.3	103
Primary area of involvement; hours per week on administrative activities	
Primary area of involvement; hours per week on leadership activities	
Hours per week paid as coordinator	103
Salary level	103
Type of designated local hosting authority	105
Summary	105
V SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND IMPLICATIONS	. 108
CIDAMADW	
	108
	108
Instrumentation	109
Research Methodology	110
Data Analysis	110
Review of Findings	111
Problem 1: Overall Job Satisfaction	111
Sub-Problem 1.1	. 11Ï
Sub-Problem 1.2	. 112`
Sub-Problem 1.3	112

			***/
CHAPTER		PAGE	٠
V	Problem 2: Facet Satisfaction and Importance	113	
. 🔏	Sub-Problem 2.1	113	·
	Sub-Problem 2.2	114	•
	Sub-Problem 2.3	114	
	Problem 3: Overall Job Satisfaction and Coordinator Characteristics	114	
	Sub-Problem 3.1	114	
	Sub-Problem 3.2	115	
• • •	Sub-Problem 3.3	115	
	Problem 4: Satisfaction and Job Factors	116	
are g	Sub-Problem 4.1	116	
w".	Sub-Problem 4.2 Problem 5: Satisfaction Factors and Coordinator	116	
. 2	Characteristics	116	
	Sub-Problem 5.1	116	
	Sub-Problem 5.2	117	
	Sub-Problem 5.3	118	
CC	ONCLUSIONS	118	: .
	Relevance of the Study Findings to the Literature on Satisfaction	118	;
*	Overall Satisfaction	118	
1.	Facet Satisfaction and Importance	120	
. A .	Factor Satisfaction	121,	·
	Satisfaction and Coordinator Characteristics	121	
	Sex	121	
	Age	121	

en de la companya de la co

Ĝ		PAGE
	Other employment	122
	Population of community	122
**	Location by region	122
	Coordinator experience	122
	Administrative experience	123
	Level of schooling	123
. ,	Number of professional development/continuing education activities attended	123
	Number of community organizations	123
	Primary area of involvement	124
	Hours per week as coordinator	125
	Annual salary	125
	Type of designated local hosting authority	125
1PLI	CATIONS	126
Imp.	lications for Administration	126
Imp:	lications for Further Research	129
(APH	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	130
Α.	QUESTIONNAIRE	136
В.	LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL	145
	iPLIO Imp. Imp. APH: A.	Other employment Population of community Location by region Coordinator experience Administrative experience Level of schooling Number of professional development/continuing education activities attended Number of community organizations Primary area of involvement Hours per week as coordinator Annual salary Type of designated local hosting authority PLICATIONS Implications for Administration Implications for Further Research APHY A. QUESTIONNAIRE

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Description	Page
1.	Personal-Social Characteristics of Respondents	33
2.	Professional Characteristics of Respondents	36
3.	Organizational Characteristics of Respondents	41
4.	Percentage Distribution of Responses to Overall Job Satisfaction Items	46
5.	Frequency and Percentage Distribution of Job Aspects Identified as Contributing Most to Job Satisfaction	49
6.	Frequency and Percentage Distribution of Job Aspects Identified as Contributing Most to Job Dissatisfaction	51
7.	Percentage Contribution of Job Aspects Regrouped as Motivator Variables to Overall Job Satisfaction and Dissatisfaction	55
8.	Percentage Contribution of Job Aspects Regrouped as Hygiene Variables to Overall Job Satisfaction and Dissatisfaction	56
9.	Items for Which the Highest Percentage of Satisfaction Were Obtained	61
10.	Items for Which the Highest Percentage of Dissatisfaction Were Obtained	62
11.	Items for Which the Highest Mean Values of Importance Were Obtained	64
12.	Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Sex	67
13.	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Age	60
14.	Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of	68
	Other Employment Held	69

15. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to the Population of the Community 7 16. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to the Location of Council by Region 7 17. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Experience as a Coordinator 7 18. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Administrative Experience in Educational Setting 7 19. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Level of Schooling 7 20. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Professional Development and Continuing Education Activities Attended 7 21. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Organizations with Coordinator Membership and Participation 7 22. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Administrative Activities 7 23. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Leadership Activities 8 24. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator Number of Hours Per Week Paid According to Number of Hours Per W	Table	Description	Pag
16. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to the Location of Council by Region 7 17. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Experience as a Coordinator 7 18. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Administrative Experience in Educational Setting 7 19. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Level of Schooling 7 20. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Professional Development and Continuing Education Activities Attended 7 21. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Organizations with Coordinator Membership and Participation 78 22. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Administrative Activities 7 23. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Leadership Activities 81 24. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Number of Hours Per Week Pevoted to Leadership Activities 92 25. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator 93 26. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified On the Basis of Annual Salary 83	15.	Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified	70
Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Experience as a Coordinator	16.	Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified	71
Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Administrative Experience in Educational Setting	17.	According to Years of Experience as a	74
19. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Level of Schooling	18.	Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Years of Administrative Experience	75
20. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Professional Development and Continuing Education Activities Attended 77 21. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Organizations with Coordinator Membership and Participation 78 22. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Administrative Activities 80 23. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Leadership Activities 81 24. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator 82 25. One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Annual Salary 83	19.	Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified	76
Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Organizations with Coordinator Membership and Participation	20.	Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Professional Development and	77
Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of the Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Administrative Activities 80 One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Leadership Activities 81 One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator 82 One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Annual Salary 83	21.	Basis of the Number of Organizations with	78
One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Sătisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to Leadership Activities	22.	Basis of the Number of Hours Per Whok Dansted to	
One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to Number of Hours Per Week Paid as a Coordinator	23,	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Sătisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Number of Hours Per Week Devoted to	
One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the Basis of Annual Salary	24 .	According to Number of Hours Per Week Paid	·
	25.	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified on the	
NV ⊈			

Table	Description	Page
26.	Analysis of Variance of Overall Job Satisfaction Among Coordinators Classified According to the Type of Designated Local Hosting Authority	84
27.	Summary of Factors Extracted from Factor Analysis	88
28.	Stepwise Multiple Regression Using Seven Predictor Variables with the Criterion Variable Overall Job Satisfaction	94
2 9 .	Analysis of Variance of Satisfaction with Job Factors Among Coordinators Classified by Personal-Social Characteristics	97
30.	Analysis of Variance of Satisfaction with Job Factors Among Coordinators Classified by Professional Characteristics	,100
31.	Analysis of Variance of Satisfaction with Job Factors Among Coordinators Classified by Organizational Characteristics	<u>1</u> 04

) CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

There has been considerable research done in the area of job satisfaction to determine how workers feel about their jobs. The studies have attempted to correlate job feelings with such criteria as age, sex, education, income, occupation, and level of worker. Some objectives were to examine means by which to increase employee morale and productivity and to reduce turnover and absenteeism. A number of studies have examined the workers' feelings of overall satisfaction and feelings towards specific aspects of their jobs in a variety of work situations and occupations. However, few studies have focused on the job attitudes of adult educators in general or more specifically Further Education Coordinators.

Given the phenomenal growth of adult education as a field of practice, it is surprising that so little attention has been given to adult education research. As Campbell (1977) described, there is no greater issue or topic of debate than that of the paucity of research in the field of adult education. Campbell (1980) made the observation that though the needs and the role of the adult education practitioner are changing, there is but sketchy descriptive data available to assess the future and emerging needs of the adult educator.

The interest and participation of the public in adult education have necessitated change and innovation in the structure and

organization of adult education. The establishment of the Further Education Councils is an illustration of recent developments to the organization of adult education in Alberta. The councils, composed of various public and private institutions and agencies involved in adult education program activities, were created to facilitate the administration and coordination of these activities at the community level. The formation of the councils emerged from provincial government policy designed to "facilitate involvement in further education by adult Albertans, and encourage systematic inter-agency communication, cooperation, and coordination in further education programming" (Further Education Policy, 1981). To assist councils in their work provision is made for the employment of part-time salaried coordinators.

The role of the Further Education Coordinator is to provide leadership and administrative support services on behalf of and for the council. The leadership activities are those that involve inter-agency communication and cooperation in the area of program planning and development, and the identification of social and educational needs of adults in the community. The administrative functions typically include the following activities: bookkeeping, forms completion, and general clerical support. However, in reality, the tasks do not appear to be clearly delineated obscuring the role of the coordinators and the relationship with council members.

As Byrne (1981) observed in an examination of several Public policies relating to the provision of adult education in Alberta, coordinators are often involved in activities normally assumed by local hosting authorities represented on the council. At the same time, Byrne postulated, coordinators contribute a prodigious amount of time to what

is essentially a part-time job and are remunerated far below their worth for the tasks that are performed.

The relationship between pay and job satisfaction has been examined in a number of studies and will be referred to in greater detail in the review of the literature. The adequacy of pay for the coordinators was addressed in a study of the professional development needs of coordinators. Konrad, Elliott, McNeal, and Sonoda (1982) indicated that the coordinators did not feel their pay was adequate for the work that was required. This is consistent with the views brought forward by Byrne (1981).

The Konrad et al. (1982) study also examined the turnover rate of further education coordinators. The relationship between job turnover and job satisfaction will be explored further in the literature review. The study determined that 25 percent of the respondents were employed as coordinators for less than three years, and that women experienced a higher turnover rate than men. It was suggested that the turnover rate was of sufficient significance to warrant special attention.

Whether or not the views or findings of Byrne (1981) and Konrad et al. (1982) are contributing to the job satisfaction of coordinators is, at present, uncertain. However, an examination of the overall job satisfaction and the satisfaction towards specific aspects of the job may foster an increased understanding of the feelings towards the job and the problems encountered in the work situation for the coordinator and other adult educators in similar positions.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to explore the job satisfaction of further education coordinators in Alberta. In this regard, the study will examine the overall satisfaction experienced by the coordinators, and the facets of the job with respect to their influence on satisfaction and the attached importance of each to the job as reported by the coordinators. In addition, the study will investigate the relationships among overall job satisfaction, satisfaction with groups of job facets, and the individual characteristics of the coordinators.

STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEMS

Problem 1: Overall Job Satisfaction

Sub-Problem 1.1. To what extent do further education coordinators experience overall job satisfaction?

<u>Sub-Problem 1.2</u>. Which job aspects are selected by coordinators as contributing the most as sources of overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction?

Sub-Problem 1.3. To what extent are the findings for overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction with the job aspects consistent with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction developed by Hertzberg, Mausner, and Snyderman (1959)?

Problem 2: Facet Satisfaction and Importance

Sub-Problem 2.1. Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as contributing most to the feeling of job satisfaction?

Sub-Problem 2.2. Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as contributing most to the feeling of job dissatisfaction?

Sub-Problem 2.3. Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as being most important to the feeling of job satisfaction?

Problem 3: Overall Job Satisfaction and Coordinator Characteristics

Sub-Problem 3.1. To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the personal-social characteristics: sex, age, other employment, population of community, location by region?

Sub-Problem 3.2. To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the professional characteristics: coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organizations?

Sub-Problem 3.3. To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the organizational characteristics: primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as a coordinator, salary level, type of

designated local hosting authority?

Problem 4: Satisfaction and Job Factors

Sub-Problem 4.1. Which job factors contribute to coordinators' overall job satisfaction?

Sub-Problem 4.2. Which job factors are the best predictors of overall job satisfaction?

Problem 5: Satisfaction Factors and Coordinator Characteristics

Sub-Problem 5.1. To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the personal-social characteristics: sex, age, other employment, population of community, location by region?

Sub-Problem 5.2. To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the professional characteristics: coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organizations?

Sub-Problem 5.3. To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the organizational characteristics: primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as a coordinator, salary level, type of designated local hosting authority?

DEFINITION OF TERMS

For the purposes of this study the definition of terms are as follows:

Job Satisfaction

Job satisfaction is defined as the attitudes or feelings an individual has about his or her work situation. The notion that job satisfaction is a function of the individual's attitudes with aspects of the work situation has been adopted in various research studies. Smith, Kendall, and Halin (1969:6) defined job satisfaction as "affective responses to the facets of the work situation". Porter and Steers (1973:169) expressed similar views and defined job satisfaction as the "sum total of a person's met expectations to the work situation".

Job Facet Satisfaction

This term refers to the level of contentment felt by the coordinators with the aspects of the job provided on the survey questionnaire.

Job Satisfaction Factors

The job satisfaction factors are groups of weighted satisfaction scores (satisfaction x importance) derived from the factor analysis of the 32 facet items contained in the survey questionnaire.

Adult Educator

An adult educator is defined in the manner as suggested by Charters (1978:6) as "any individual involved at some level in the decision-making process concerning policy and/or the practice of adult education".

Further Education Coordinator

A part-time salaried employee of the designated local hosting authority responsible for the provision of leadership and administrative support services to the further education council.

Further Education Council

This term refers to a community-based organization composed of public and private agencies and institutions responsible for the provision of adult education services. The member agencies and institutions are identified as Local Hosting Authorities. The Designated Local Hosting Authority is a member of the council assigned to provide the administrative and leadership support services for the council.

LIMITATIONS AND DELIMITATIONS

1. This study is subject to the limitations imposed by the instrumentation used. The degree to which the facets of the job indicated in the questionnaire address the totality of the work situation has not been examined previously.

- 2. This study is limited to the population involved. The generalization of the findings should not be done without caution.
- 3. The population of coordinators is delimited by virtue of the exclusion of six further education councils from the study. The organization of these councils differ to the extent that coordinators are not employed to perform tasks in a manner of the coordinators in the study population. The differential in tasks was addressed by Konrad et al. (1982) who suggested that much of the decision-making relative to the coordinative functions in the excluded councils occurred through council committees.

ASSUMPTIONS

- 1. The questionnaire returns were completed by the coordinators to whom they were addressed and were done so in good faith.
- 2. The valuation of job attitudes, as provided by the respondents, was an accurate reflection of satisfaction to the work situation.
- 3. The instrumentation, as initially developed by Rice (1978) and modified to suit the study population, was a valid and reliable measure of the satisfaction variables.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The literature in this review provides a general background to the study. This chapter is organized into three sections. The first section provides theoretical frameworks for the study of job satisfaction. The second section deals with the research related to the job satisfaction of adult educators. The last section examines job satisfaction research in areas other than adult education.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS FOR JOB SATISFACTION

Mumford (1972:4) referred to job satisfaction as a nebulous concept with little consensus on the definition or explanation of the term. An examination of job satisfaction definitions revealed the use of a diversity of terms and approaches to explain the concept. Given this diversity, it appeared necessary to develop a theoretical framework for the review of the job satisfaction literature.

It is not surprising that a variety of methods to classify job satisfaction research have been used. Three distinctive approaches to the construction of theoretical frameworks for this concept were developed by Mumford (1972), Lawler (1973), and Locke (1969). A categorization of job satisfaction research was established by Mumford (1972) on the basis of the variables or factors that influence feelings about

the work situation. Mumford (1972:4) identified the following variables to develop the theoretical frameworks: psychological need, leadership, effort-reward differentiation, management values and practices, and the intrinsic aspects of work. This model, to a large extent, focuses on job satisfaction as an outcome of the job context or the extrinsic aspects of the job.

Lawler and Locke generally view job satisfaction as a person's affective orientations to the work situation. Lawler (1973:65) established four conceptual frameworks for the study of job satisfaction:

(1) Fulfillment Approach - researchers view job satisfaction as a function of the measured outcome an individual receives from the work situation; (2) Discrepancy Approach - researchers view job satisfaction as determined by the differential between received outcome and other outcome levels; (3) Equity Approach - researchers view job satisfaction as determined by the relationship between the received outcomes of the job and the effort put into the job; (4) Two-Factor Approach - researchers view job satisfaction as a function of the motivator and hygiene factors of the work situation. The feelings about the motivator facets of the job can result in satisfaction but not dissatisfaction, and the feelings about the hygiene facets of the job can result in dissatisfaction but not satisfaction.

Finally, Locke (1969) addressed the development of theoretical frameworks for job satisfaction due to the lack of theory stating the cause for job attitudes. Though researchers have not clarified the causes of job satisfaction, Locke (1969:309) indicated that the theories of job satisfaction can be categorized on the basis of the

approach to the determinants: (1) The Subjective Approach - that the determinants lie wholly in the worker's mind; (2) The Intrinsic Approach - that the determinants lie wholly in the job itself; (3) The Interactionist Approach - that the determinants lie in the interaction between the worker and the work environment.

Given its scope, this study will examine representative theories of job satisfaction through the categorical framework developed by Locke (1969).

The Subjective Approach

Maslow's (1970) theory of human motivation has been widely researched in its relationship with job satisfaction and has been selected as representative of the subjective approach to the study of job satisfaction. It is indicated in the subjective approach that the determinants of job satisfaction are grounded solely within the individual.

Maslow developed the well-known hierarchy of needs for the treatment of mental disorders. However, as Clay (1977) stated many researchers have adapted the concept of needs satisfaction for application to the work situation.

The basis of Maslow's hierarchy of needs are the five basic need levels (Maslow, 1970). The hierarchical arrangement of the need levels from the lowest to highest are physiological, safety, belongingness, esteem, and self-actualization. According to Maslow (1970), higher level needs emerge and become the strongest motivators of behavior as the lower level needs are respectively satisfied. However, as Lawler (1973) cautioned the order of needs should not be

viewed rigidly as being the same for all individuals.

The application of Maslow's hierarchy of needs to the work situation appears appropriate given the potential for the prediction of outcomes of organizational decisions and policies. As Lawler (1973:29) described organizations should recognize that with the satisfaction of needs through pay increases, job security, promotion, and the like will emerge higher order needs. It is implied in Maslow's theoretical framework that workers may not achieve complete job satisfaction.

Porter (1961) examined the applicability of the needs hierarchy to populations of bottom and middle level managers. He noted a differential in met needs between the two groups and concluded that the hierarchical framework was a viable approach to the study of job satisfaction. Paine, Carroll, and Leete (1966) completed a study of needs satisfaction on field and central office government managers. They reported that field managers experienced greater job satisfaction than the central office managers. The finding resulted from the reduced exposure of the field managers to the bureaucratic structure which Paine et al. contend impose limitations on the satisfaction of the higher order needs. The study results confirmed the acceptability of the hierarchy of needs to measure job satisfaction.

Other studies have failed to validate Maslow's hierarchy of needs as a means to measure job satisfaction. Schneider and Alderfer (1973) conducted three studies of needs satisfaction in organizational settings. They examined the satisfaction of nurses, bank employees, and life insurance employees using in each study population different means of measurement to determine the convergence of results.

The conclusions of the studies did not support Maslow's hierarchy of needs and as Schneider and Alderfer (1973:503) reported, was due to the difficulties in operationalizing the need categories to the organizational setting and the reality that the theoretical framework was not originally intended for application to the organizational setting. Clay (1977) sought to validate Maslow's hierarchy of needs on college instructors. In this study, the hierarchical framework presented poor explanations of the interrelationships between need levels and of the predictability of satisfaction and behavior. Clay (1977:23) recommended that other more valid theoretical frameworks be adopted for the study of satisfaction.

Maslow's (1970) hierarchy of needs has been much replicated as a theoretical framework for research on job satisfaction. While there is some support validating the framework, there is also considerable criticism of its inability to identify valid interrelationships in the work situation. However, the review of the literature indicates that in spite of the limitations the theoretical framework has been useful in satisfaction research and that further efforts be put forth to adapt the needs hierarchy to the work environment.

The Intrinsic Approach

The dual-factor theory of job satisfaction and motivation as developed by Hertzberg, Mausner, and Snyderman (1959) has been selected as a representative theoretical framework for the intrinsic approach to the study of job satisfaction. Locke (1969) claimed that in the intrinsic approach the determinants of satisfaction lie wholly in the

job itself. The dual-factor framework is based on the individuals' affective reactions to the work itself and the environment in which they work.

Hertzberg et al. (1959) examined the work motivations of engineers and accountants through a process of interviews which required the respondents to recall incidents which produced satisfaction and dissatisfaction. They determined that job attitudes were unidimensional and indicated that certain variables (motivators) produced satisfaction but not dissatisfaction, and another set of variables (hygienes) produced job dissatisfaction but not satisfaction. It was additionally found by Hertzberg et al. (1959:59) that the motivators were related to the job content or intrinsic job factors. The intrinsic job factors were identified as recognition, achievement, responsibility, advancement, and the work itself. The hygiene variables, on the other hand, were related to the job context or extrinsic job factors which were described as working conditions, interpersonal relationships, supervision, personal life, salary, organizational policy, and job security.

A considerable number of researchers have examined the validity of the dual-factor theory as a theoretical framework for the study of job satisfaction. The job characteristics of the motivator and hygiene variables were studied by Friedlander (1964). He concluded that there were significant differences between the job characteristics that were related to the satisfier and dissatisfier groups of variables. The results supported Hertzberg's contention with respect to the independence of the motivator and hygiene factors, and the unidimensionality of job attitudes. Similar results emerged from a study dope by Centers

and Bugental (1966) in attempting to determine the intrinsic and extrinsic motivators in different occupational groups. Their predictions that higher level occupations would be motivated intrinsically and lower level occupations extrinsically were confirmed.

The major criticisms of the dual-factor theory were outlined by House and Wigdor (1967:371) and were based on the following: theory is bound by its interview methodology. Ewen (1964) argued that other methods of measurement must be employed to test the theory.; (2) The research upon which the theory is based is insufficiently grounded. House and Wigdor (1967) cautioned that rater interpretation in interviews could lead to the contamination of results. The motivator and hygiene dichotomy was not supported in research studies done by Ewen (1964) and Burke (1966); the latter also indicating the absence of unidimensionality of job attitudes. Ewen (1964) also questioned the narrow range of occupations (engineers and accountants) examined by Hertzberg and associates.; (3) The inconsistencies with evidence derived from previous research. The dual-factor theory supports the notion that productivity is a function of satisfaction which is contrary to the research evidence, according to House and Wigdor (1967).

The Interactionist Approach

According to Locke (1969), the determinants of job satisfaction in the interactionist approach lie in the interaction between the worker and the environment in which he or she works. Locke (1969:319) further proposed "the prediction of job satisfaction necessarily requires an interactive approach because of the nature of man and of the

evaluation process". The key elements appear to be the individual's ability to make value judgements and to establish relationships between what he sees and what he values. Lawler's (1973) model of facet satisfaction will be further examined as an example of the interactionist approach.

Lawler (1973) stated that job satisfaction is a state of equilibrium between what satisfaction an individual feels he should receive and reports that he actually receives. The distinction between facet satisfaction and overall satisfaction was made by Lawler (1973:64) who stated "facet satisfaction refers to worker's affective reactions to particular aspects of the job, while overall satisfaction refers to worker's affective refers to worker's affective reactions to the total work situation".

In Lawler's (1973) model, there are indicated to be a number of variables that influence the worker's view of what rewards are received and the view of what the reward level should be. The reward level received is affected by the present outcome level, the view of what the "referent others" receive, and the psychological differences between individuals. The view of what the reward level should be is influenced most significantly by the worker's evaluation of the inputs that the worker brings to the job. The inputs were described by Lawler (1973:76) as the "skills, abilities, and training a worker brings to the job and his behavior on the job". In addition, the view of what the reward level should be is influenced by the job expectations. The greater the expectations of the job, the more the worker will expect to receive.

The interactionist approach, as evidenced by Lawler's (1973) model of facet satisfaction, attempts to explain the complex

relationship between the worker and his or her work environment in its influence on job attitudes.

The categories of the theoretical frameworks as developed by Locke (1969) have examined the major approaches to the study of job satisfaction. Most research to date on finding the determinants of satisfaction has concentrated on relating satisfaction to the individual (subjective approach) and to the job (intrinsic approach). That satisfaction is perhaps a function of both the worker and the work environment (interactionist approach) appears to be gaining considerable prominence in its attempts to provide an explanation for the influences and relationship of the individual and job factors to job satisfaction.

JOB SATISFACTION RESEARCH WITH ADULT EDUCATORS

An adult educator was described by Charters (1978:6) as "any individual involved at some level in the decision-making process with respect to the policy and/or the practice of adult education".

The description encompasses a broad spectrum of the different types and groups of adult educators but at the same time recognizes the common commitment to the education of adults. According to Charters (1978), all adult educators have similar roles and responsibilities and have, perhaps in varying degree, common characteristics uniquely focusing on their field of endeavor.

A study done by Charters and Hilton (1978) examined through interviews what adult educators report that they do, and what they think and feel about what they do. The subjects were full-time adult

educators primarily involved in program administration in their respective organizations. They represented a variety of institutions and agencies from different levels of government, universities, school boards, industry, and nonprofit service agencies.

The determinants of satisfaction were derived from a single question asking the respondents to describe a typical work day. The findings, as described by Charters and Hilton (1978), indicated that the respondents were generally very enthusiastic about the importance and value of their work and received considerable satisfaction from their sense of mission to adult education. An additional source of satisfaction emerged from the service to the students, though interestingly many respondents did not view the contact with or the service to the students as a source of satisfaction.

Solmon and Tierney (1977) studied the determinants of job satisfaction for 211 college administrators. They specifically examined the job satisfaction that evolved from the relationship between certain aspects of the job and organizational role congruence. Solmon and Tierney (1977:413) referred to role congruence as the administrator's view of the conflict between the organizational reward structure and the behaviors valued in subordinates.

The findings indicated that at least 50 percent of the administrators were very satisfied" with 13 of the 19 job aspects examined. The job aspects which elicited the greatest degree of satisfaction were responsibility, challenge, variety, and congenial relationships. The administrators were "not satisfied" primarily with those aspects of the job that were seen to be constrained by the lack of time. Greatest dissatisfaction was expressed with the opportunities for leisure time

activities, for family oriented activities, and for the pursuit of scholarly activities.

In terms of valued behaviors and role congruence influencing job satisfaction, the administrators placed greatest value on the "interpersonal skills of their subordinates. Interpersonal skills were valued in 12 of the 19 relationships studied. As Solmon and Tierney (1977:424) described "the administrators experienced more satisfaction when their subordinates were encouraged to improve their abilities in dealing with people".

An examination of the literature relevant to the job satisfaction of adult educators suggests a paucity of research particularly on the population of adult educators who are neither employed by a postsecondary institution or as an instructor. As Campbell (1980) described, there is a general lack of information available on the personnel structure and the individual characteristics of adult educators in Canada.

JOB SATISFACTION RESFARCH IN AREAS OTHER THAN ADULT EDUCATION

Research in Other Occupational Areas

The job satisfaction of 74 secondary school administrators was assessed by Schmidt (1976). He concluded that the administrators achieved the most satisfaction from the fulfillment of the needs for recognition, achievement, and advancement. Job dissatisfaction was associated with salary, interpersonal relations, policy and administration, and supervision. Paine, Carroll, and Leete (1966) studied the job satisfaction of field and central office government managers

and administrators. They determined that the field staff experienced more satisfaction than their central office colleagues particularly in the area of the higher order needs of self-esteem, autonomy, and self-actualization.

Research in Job Withdrawal

Various studies have attempted to relate job satisfaction with different forms of job withdrawal. Waters and Roach (1971) examined the relationship between job satisfaction and the permanent (termination) and temporary (absences) forms of job withdrawal. They reported that both forms of withdrawal were related to job satisfaction and that withdrawal behavior was a possible consequence of dissatisfaction. It was additionally indicated that termination behavior was significantly related to the intrinsic facets of the job.

Hulin (1966) studied the job satisfaction of 350 female clerical workers and at intervals of 5 and 12 months after the administration of the questionnaire attempted to relate levels of satisfaction to termination. He reported that at and after the 12 month period there was a significant relationship between the initial satisfaction ratings and turnover. Those who had remained with their employment reported a greater level of satisfaction on the questionnaire than those who had terminated.

Research on Selected Individual Characteristics and Satisfaction

Sex of worker. As Hulin and Smith (1964) suggested, that given the prevailing notion that women are paid less and at a lower job level than men, that women would experience less job satisfaction

than men. They determined in a sample of male and female plant workers that the females expressed less job satisfaction with their jobs than the males. The limitations with respect to promotional opportunities were consistently an area of dissatisfaction. However, the females reported greater satisfaction with their pay than the male workers. Hulin and Smith (1964) made a final point that the removal of the many variables that covary with the sex of the worker (eg. job level, promotional opportunities, pay) would likely result in negligible differences in the reporting of satisfaction between male and female

In 1966, Centers and Bugental researched the job motivators for different segments of the working population. They determined that there were no significant differences between the males and females with respect to the values placed on the intrinsic or extrinsic facets of the job. However, there were differences accountable to the sex of the worker in the social and self-expression factors of the job. The females experienced greater satisfaction than the males with the social factors of the job; that is they placed greater value on the relationships with co-workers. At the same time, the females received less satisfaction than the males on the self-expression dimension of the job. They placed less value than the males on the opportunities to demonstrate innovation, talent, and skill in the job.

Pay of worker. Early search has demonstrated that job factors other than pay have an important role in the job attitudes of workers. Yet as Opsahl and Dunnette (1974) described, there continues to be considerable significance placed on pay as a means of rewarding and

modifying job attitudes.

Hertzberg et al. (1959) in their conceptualization of the dual-factor theory of satisfaction described pay as an extrinsic job factor. They asserted in their position with respect to the unidirectionality of job attitudes that pay could result in job dissatisfaction but would not contribute to job satisfaction. Ewen, Hulin, Smith, and Locke (1966) examined the influence of pay on job attitudes in the context of testing the dual-factor theory. They concluded that pay does not increase the satisfaction of workers who experience low satisfaction with the intrinsic job factors but it does increase worker satisfaction for those who expressed satisfaction with the intrinsic job factors.

Pay is seen as a useful motivator for those who are already satisfied with their jobs.

Opsahl and Dunnette (1974) suggested that the manner of administration of financial remuneration is likely to have a significant effect on job attitudes. They felt that the pay range, the secrecy in salary matters, how pay is determined, and the worker's pay history contribute to the attitudes toward one's pay.

Age of worker. The age of the worker is generally viewed as being positively related to job satisfaction. The relationship was implied by Porter and Steers (1973) who suggested that age was inversely associated with job turnover. Turnover, in this case, had been established as positively related to dissatisfaction. The relationship of age and satisfaction was determined in a study done by Solmon and Tierney (1977). In an examination of the determinants of satisfaction for college administrators, they found that age was positively related

to several facets of the job. The age of the administrator was a factor in the expression of satisfaction to aspects of the job as power, influence, and leisure time. In addition, both studies implied that age and length of service were closely associated and would provide similar predictions of job satisfaction.

The review of the literature reveals that the concept of job satisfaction has been the subject of considerable research. Though this has increased the understanding of the concept, it has also brought to light its complexities. Job satisfaction must be considered as Locke (1969) described, as the complex and dynamic interrelationship between the individual's emotions and values and the environment.

CHAPTER TIT

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter will examine the research methodology employed in the study. The three sections will respectively report on the research instrument, pilot testing, and data collection.

THE RESEARCH INSTRUMENT

The questionnaire format was used in this study for the collection of data relevant to the job satisfaction of the further education coordinators. The approach was adopted to facilitate data collection from a geographically dispersed population within the context of the cost and time considerations. Anonymity was a factor in the decision and as Moser (1958:177) described "people completing question-naires may respond to personal and perhaps embarrassing questions more willingly and accurately than if faced with an unknown interviewer". Finally, it was felt that the questionnaire format would allow the respondents to provide considered as opposed to immediate responses.

The questionnaire, Sources of Job Satisfaction for Further *
Education Coordinators, was adapted from instrumentation developed by
Holdaway (1978) and Rice (1978) who respectively studied the satisfaction of teachers and school principals. Holdaway (1978) examined 59
job facet items and categorized them according to the working
conditions, teaching-related matters, student-related matters, and

occupation-related matters. One item was included to measure overall job satisfaction. Rice (1978) categorized 45 job facet items into working conditions, personnel-related matters, school-related matters, district-related matters, and occupation-related matters. Overall satisfaction was measured from responses to four items.

The following describes the sections included in the question-Section A provided data on the individual characteristics of the further education coordinators and was adapted from Rice's (1978) study. One item on the administrative and leadership activities of the coordinators was adapted from Onuoha's (1980) study of the satisfaction of educators in Rehabilitation Medicine. The Konrad et al. (1982) study provided considerable assistance in the development of items specific to the study population. Items in this section were categorized to reflect the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics of the coordinators. Section B provided the measures of overall satisfaction and was adapted from Rice's (1978) study. Overall satisfaction was assessed with four items which measured attitudes to the effectiveness of the council, to the fulfillment of the higher and lower order needs, and to the job in every aspect. In the initial questionmaire, the rating scale included six response alternatives: 1 - highly dissatisfied, 2 - moderately dissatisfied, 3 - slightly dissatisfied, 4 - slightly satisfied, 5 - moderately satisfied, 6 - highly satisfied. Section C: Working Conditions, Section D: Council-Related Matters, Section E: Further Education Services-Related Matters, and Section F: Occupation-Related Matters respectively categorized the 32 job facet items. These sections provided for the measurement of satisfaction to the job facet items and the importance rating of each job facet to job

satisfaction. In the initial questionnaire, satisfaction was scaled from 1 - highly dissatisfied to 6 - highly satisfied and the importance of the job facet scaled from 1 - not important to 6 - extremely important. The importance scale was adapted from Onuoha's (1980) study. The last section, Section G: Sources of Job Attitudes, was adapted from Rice's (1978) study. The open-response format provided the freedom to the respondents to select, on their own, factors which they felt contributed to job satisfaction and dissatisfaction.

PILOT TESTING

The questionnaire was pretested by four coordinators under the conditions of the proposed approach to the administration of the instrument. In addition, two graduate students and a former manager with Alberta Advanced Education and Manpower who had background knowledge of the role of the coordinators provided a critical analysis of the instrument. The individuals involved in the pretesting were asked to evaluate and comment on the content and format of the questionnaire, the adequacy and appropriateness of the items and response categories, and the clarity of the questions.

The comments resulted in the implementation of various changes to the questionnaire. Clarity was addressed in the amendments to the wording of 15 items. The word "please" was inserted in the comment sections. The response categories for the question on age were changed to reflect equal intervals in each category. Under Section B, the response category of "no opinión" was inserted into the rating scale and assigned the rating value of 0. It was felt that "no opinion" was

necessary to facilitate the possibility of neutral responses. A similar rationale was used to insert the "no opinion" response category to the satisfaction and importance rating scales in Sections C, D, E, and F of the questionnaire. As previous, the "no opinion" response category was assigned the rating value of 0. Finally, in the importance scale the response category "quite important" was deleted. It was felt this was an unnecessary interval between the "moderately important" and "very important" response categories. This required amendments to rating values of the "very important" and "extremely important" response categories to 4 and 5 respectively.

DATA COLLECTION

The Sample

The names of coordinators for this study were derived from a master list of council staff updated to November 2, 1982. The listing for the 83 councils was provided by Further Education Services,

Alberta Advanced Education and Manpower. Six councils were excluded from the study who, it was determined, either did not employ coordinators or employ coordinators on the usual part-time basis. In addition, the four coordinators who had participated in the pilot testing were not readministered the questionnaire. A total of 74 coordinators representing 73 councils were sent questionnaires.

Procedures

Approval for the distribution of the questionnaires was obtained from Further Education Services. On November 8, 1982 the questionnaires with stamped, self-addressed envilopes were distributed. The cover letter indicated a cutoff date of November 29, 1982 and the assurance of anonymity to the coding procedure used in the study to monitor returns. Follow-up procedures were initiated on November 29, 1982 with the re-distribution of questionnaires and stamped, self-addressed envelopes to non-respondents. A cutoff date of December 14, 1982 was indicated in the cover letter. Appendix A contains the questionnaire used in the study and Appendix B the letters of transmittal.

Returns

Sixty-five returns had been received by December 21, 1982 providing a return rate of 87.8 percent. However, one questionnaire was returned unanswered with an explanation that a coordinator, as such, was not employed in that jurisdiction. This provided 64 useable returns for the study. In addition, it was decided that the four questionnaires completed in the pre-test phase of the study would be included in the sample providing 68 useable returns. It was felt that this would be acceptable since no items were added or deleted nor any major changes implemented.

DATA ANALYSIS

The purpose of this chapter is to report the characteristics of the sample population of coordinators and the results of the data analysis procedures used in conjunction with the problem statements presented in Chapter I. The first section provides a description of the respondents on the basis of the personal-social characteristics, professional characteristics, and organizational characteristics.

The second section addresses problem statement 1 and provides the statistical analysis related to the extent of overall job satisfaction experienced by the coordinators. In addition, this section reports on the job aspects personally identified by the coordinators as contributing most to overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction and on relationship of the grouped data to the dual-factor theory developed by Hertzberg et al. (1959).

The next section focuses on problem statement 2. The job facets identified by the coordinators as contributing most to job satisfaction and dissatisfaction are examined. As well, the analysis of data concerned with the importance of facet items to job satisfaction are reported.

Problem statement 3 is dealt with in the fourth section. The purpose of this section is to report the differences between groups to the level of overall job satisfaction experienced. The investigation

will examine the differences between groups classified according to the personal-social characteristics, professional characteristics, and organizational characteristics of the coordinators.

The fifth section addresses problem statement 4 and reports on the seven job factors extracted from the factor analysis of the 32 weighted job facet items. The contribution of the respective job factors to feelings of overall satisfaction is examined. In addition, the relative strengths of the job factors to predict overall satisfaction is investigated.

The last section reports on the investigation of problem statement 5. The degree to which the level of coordinator satisfaction with the job factors is related to differences between groups classified according to the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics is reported.

SECTION 1

DESCRIPTION OF RESPONDENTS

The first section of this chapter provides a description of the 68 respondents upon which this study is based. The sample population is described according to the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics.

Personal-Social Characteristics

The frequency and percentage distributions relevant to the personal-social variables of the respondents are shown in Table 1.

Sex. Almost 9 out of every 10 respondents were female.

Females accounted for 88.2 percent of the sample population compared to 10.3 percent for males.

Age. Fifty-three percent of the respondents were 35 years of age and younger, 29.4 percent were aged 36 to 45, and 16.2 percent were 46 years of age and older.

Other employment. Approximately 40 percent of the sample population was employed in other areas while serving in their capacity as coordinators. There were 58.8 percent of the respondents who indicated sole employment as coordinators.

Population of community. Over two-thirds of the respondents were coordinators from communities with populations of 10,000 or less. There were 42.6 percent from communities of 5,000 or less and 26.5 percent from communities with populations from 5,001 to 10,000.

Approximately 13 percent of the sample population came from communities with 10,001 to 15,000 people and 16.2 percent from communities with populations of 15,001 and greater.

The population data does not address the delimitation to the study with respect to the exclusion of six councils from the study. To a large extent the excluded councils represented communities with populations of 20,001 or greater.

Location by region. All regions of the province, as designated for regional meetings of the councils, were represented by the respondents. An examination of the data reveals that 14.7 percent of the

PERSONAL-SOCIAL CHARACTERISTICS OF RESPONDENTS (n = 68)

CHARACTERISTICS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
Sex		
Female	60	88.2
Male	7	10.3 -
No response to item	1	1.5
∤ge ·		*
25 or less	4	5.9
26 - 35	/ 32	47.1
36 - 45	20	29.4
46 - 55	10	14.7
56 or older	- 1	1.5
No response to item	1	1.5
ther employment		
Yes	27	39.7
No	40	58.8
No response to item	1	1.5

Table 1 (Continued)

CHARACTERISTICS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
Population of community		
5,000 or less	29	42 , 6
5,001 - 10,000	18 - 0.	26.5
10,001 - 15,000	9	13.2
15,001 - 20,000	. 6	8.8
20,001 or more	5	7.4
No response to item	1 .	1.5
ocation by region		
Northwest	10	14.7
Northeast	15	22.1
Yellowhead	12	17.6
Central	12	17.6
South		25.0
No response to item	2	2.9

respondents were from the northwest region, 22.1 percent the northeast region, 17.6 percent from each of the yellowhead and central regions, and a quarter of the respondents from the south region.

Professional Characteristics

Table 2 provides the frequency and percentage distributions of the items related to the professional characteristics of the respondents...

Years of experience as coordinator. Over two-thirds of the respondents stated that they had been employed as coordinators for less than four years. There were 36.8 percent who had one year or less experience as a coordinator and 30.9 percent with more than one year but less than four years experience. Twenty-eight percent of the respondents had indicated more than three years of experience as a coordinator.

Years of administrative experience in educational setting.

A majority, 63.3 percent, of the respondents indicated fewer than five years of administrative experience in an educational setting.

Approximately 31 percent of the sample population had a year or less of administrative experience. In addition, over a third of the respondents, 35.4 percent, indicated five or more years of administrative experience in an educational setting.

Highest level of schooling. Approximately 29 percent of the respondents completed high school or attended a high school program. Almost nine percent completed technical or vocational training programs. However, a majority, 60.3 percent, within the sample

CHARACTEPISTICS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
ears of expanience coording	ator.	and the second of the second o
lor loge	25	36.8
2 - 3	· 27.	30.9
H - C	1.1	16.2
Control inverse	. 8	11.8
No response to item	3	4.4
ears of administrative experience education of solding	ence 21	, 30,9
o education of conting	:	30.9 32.4
·	21	
lor location of solutions 2 ~ 4	21	32.4
lor location of conting the location of the location of the location of conting the location of the location o	21 22 15	32.4 22.1

Table 2 (Continued)

CHARACTERISTICS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
lighest level of schooling		
Some high school	4	5.9
High school completed	16	23.5
Technical-vocational training	% 6	8.8
Some university	21	30.9
University degree	17	25.0
Graduate degree	3	ч.4
No response to item	1 %	1.5
Number of professional development/ continuing education activities atter	nded	
0	5	7.4
	11	16.2
2	21	30.9
3	15	22.1
4 or more	16	23.5

Table 2 (Continued)

CHARACTERISTICS			. F.	REQUENCY	PER	CENTAGE	. .
Number of organi dinator membersh	zations wi ip and par	th coor- ticipation	,	,			1
Ö	•			0		0	. /
1 - 3			•	40	į	8.8	
4 - 6		•		·21	3	30.9	
7 - 9	•	•		5		744	Ĭ
10 or more			•	1		1.5	
No response t	o item .			1		1.5	,

population have attended university courses. Approximately half of this group or 29.4 percent of the total number of respondents have fulfilled degree requirements either at the undergraduate or graduate level.

Professional development/continuing education activities
attended. The interest in the development of personal and professional
skills was measured through the attendance at professional development/
continuing education activities over the period of the past year.
The largest number of respondents or 30.9 percent were in attendance at
two activities over the year. Approximately seven percent of the
respondents had not attended any activities. The remainder indicated
their attendance over the year as one activity, 16.2 percent; three
activities, 22.1 percent; and four or more activities, 23.5 percent.

Membership and participation in organizations. Involvement in community affairs was measured through the membership and participation in various community organizations. All respondents belonged to and actively participated in at least one community organization with the majority, 58.8 percent, being involved with one to three organizations. Almost 31 percent of respondents had active involvement with four to six organizations and 8.9 percent with seven or more organizations.

Organizational Characteristics

The frequency and percentage distribution data for the items describing the organizational characteristics of the respondents are reported in Table 3.

Primary area of work involvement. The focus of the work activities for the respondents was examined through the number of hours per week devoted to the administrative and leadership functions of their jobs. The respondents indicated the degree of activity in the respective job functions according to the rating categories of nil hours per week, 1 to 5, 6 to 10, 11 to 15, 16 to 20, and 21 or more hours per week.

Over 70 percent of the respondents stated 10 or fewer hours per week as being devoted to the administrative aspects of the job.

Approximately 15 percent of the respondents spent 11 to 15 hours per week on administration and the remainder, 11.7 percent, 16 or more hours per week.

On the leadership dimension, 41.2 percent of the respondents spent 10 or fewer hours per week performing the related tasks. Over half, 57.4 percent, devoted 11 or more hours per week on the leadership component of the position.

Hours per week paid as coordinator. The formalized time commitments to the job were measured through the determination of the hours per week for which the respondents received payment. Twenty-four respondents, 35.2 percent, were paid to work 15 or fewer hours per week. A majority, 63.2 percent, of the respondents received payment for 16 or more hours per week on the job. Thus most respondents were retained for two or more days per week to fulfill the responsibilities of the position.

Salary level. A large majority, 89.7 percent, of the respondents received an annual salary of \$10,000 or less. The remainder, 8.7

Table 3

ORGANIZATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS OF RESPONDENTS

(n = 68)

CHARACTERISTICS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
Primary area of work involvement		**************************************
Hours per week for administrative activities		
Nil	1	1.5
.1 - 5	18	26.5
6 - 10	29	42.6
11 - 15	10	. 14.7
16 - 20	6	8.8
21 or more	2	2.9
No response to item	2	2.9
Hours per week for leadership activities		
Nil	0	0
1 - 5	. 11	16.2
6 - 10	17	25.0
11 - 15	2 0	29.4
16 - 20	14	20.6
21 or more	5	7.4
No response to item	1.	1.5

Table 3 (Continued)

CHARACTERISTICS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
Total hours per week paid as coording	nator	
5 or less	2	2.9
6 - 10	9	13.2
11 - 15	13	19.1
16 - 20	26	38.2
21 or more	17 చు	25.0
No response to item	1	1.5
Salary level		
\$5,000 or less	15	22.1
\$5,001 - \$10,000	46	67.6
\$10,001 - \$15,000	2	2.9
\$15,001 - \$20,000	2	2.9
\$20,001 or more	2	2.9
No response to item	i	1.5
Type of designated local hosting authority		
School authority	53	77.9
Postsecondary institution	12	17.6
Other	2	2.9
No response to item	1	1.5
		

percent, was compensated \$10,001 or more per annum.

Type of designated local hosting authority. Almost 78 percent of the respondents indicated their designated local hosting authority to be a school authority. Postsecondary institutions comprised the other major group and were identified as designated local hosting authorities by 17.6 percent of the respondents.

Summary

The first section of this chapter on the analysis of data provided a description of the respondents according to their personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics. The data will be used for further study of the job satisfaction of coordinators.

To summarize, it was revealed in the personal-social dimension that a large majority of respondents were female and slightly over half were 35 years of age or less. Approximately 6 out of 10 did not have other employment and close to 70 percent of the respondents resided in communities with populations of 10,000 or less. Respondents emerged from all regions of the province with the south region having the largest representation, 25 percent, and the northwest region the smallest with 14.7 percent of the total number of respondents.

The professional characteristics of the respondents were examined through their experience as coordinators, administrative experience in educational settings, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, and participation in community organizations. Over a third have had a year or less experience as a coordinator and almost two-thirds of the respondents had less than

five years administrative experience in educational environments.

On the level of schooling, the majority, 60.3 percent, stated that they had attended university with about half of this group completing undergraduate or graduate degree requirements. Over three-quarters of the respondents attended two or more professional development/continuing education activities in the previous year. Approximately 90 percent indicated their membership and participation in six or fewer community organizations, in examining the community involvement variable.

Four variables were used in this study to assess the organizational characteristics of the respondents: primary area of work involvement, hours per week paid as a coordinator, salary level, and type of designated local hosting authority. On the primary area of work involvement, a large majority, over 70 percent, devoted 10 or fewer hours per week to the administrative functions of the job. At the same time, over half, 57.4 percent, of the respondents indicated they spent 11 or more hours per week on leadership activities. It appears that the leadership aspects of the position are viewed as the primary area of work involvement. Almost two thirds, 63.2 percent, were paid for two or more days per week as a coordinator and a vast majority, almost 90 percent, received an annual salary of \$10,000 or less.

School authorities were identified by most respondents, 77.9 percent, as their designated local hosting authority.

SECTION 2

PROBLEM 1: OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION

Q

Section 2 reports on the analysis of two criteria employed to assess overall job satisfaction. First, it examines the degree to which the respondents indicated feelings of overall job satisfaction through four items in Section B of the questionnaire; and second, the job aspects personally identified the respondents as contributing to overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction. In addition, the job aspects regrouped as motivator and hygiene variables are to be assessed in their consistency with the dual dimensions of job satisfaction as proposed by Hertzberg et al. (1959).

Sub-Problem 1.1

"To what extent do further education coordinators experience overall job satisfaction?"

Section B of the questionnaire provided measures of overall job satisfaction through the rating of four items. The response categories for the four items are collapsed into two categories denoting overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction respectively. Rice (1978) followed this procedure on the premise that the results would not significantly impair the reliability or validity of the items. The response categories: slightly, moderately, and highly satisfied with rating values of four, five, and six respectively are collapsed to form the satisfaction category. Table 4 contains the percentages of respondents who rated their overall satisfaction and the mean values for each

Table 4

PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSES TO OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION ITEMS (n = 68)

OVER A LL JOB		PF	RCENTA	PERCENTAGE OF RESPONSES	RESPON	SES		GERCENTAGE	MEANS
SATISFACTION		,					1	ON THE TEN	
	bəi	tely ied	jed Jy	ly isfied	eJy eJy	bəile.	not		
	VIABiH AsiteS	ersboM Taits2	Slight SaiteS	Slight Jasaid	Moderat Itsesiu	Highly Issait	niqO oN		
Social relationships	42.6	39.7	7.4	1	1.5	0.0	л. П	89.7	بر
Effectiveness of council	30.9	54.4	11.8	2.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	1 79) (
Use of abilities	41.2	30.9	17.6	⊅.	2.9	0.0	2.9	89.7	0.13 F 03
Overall satisfaction	27.9	48.5	13.2	±. ±	2.9	7.5	r.	υ • ο	3.05
*		 -) 	•	£8.4
				_	_	-	-		

of the four items.

On three of the four items the percentage of respondents indicating satisfaction was approximately 90 percent in each case. The percentage exceeded 90 percent with the item addressing the effectiveness of the council in meeting the adult education needs in the community. The mean values of three of the items exceeded 5.0 providing an approximate level of moderate satisfaction in relation to the response categories. On the basis of the means, greatest satisfaction was derived from the social relationships in the work. The item assessing overall satisfaction was revealed to have the lowest mean value providing an approximate level of slight satisfaction.

Overall, the respondents indicated to be moderately satisfied with the job in all its aspects.

Sub-Problem 1.2

"Which job aspects are selected by coordinators as contributing the most as sources of overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction?"

Section G of the questionnaire, through the open-ended format. provided the respondents the opportunity to identify two job aspects which contributed to overall job satisfaction and two job aspects which contributed to overall job dissatisfaction.

Responses in the two categories, satisfaction and dissatistaction, were grouped according to common themes in the feelings to various aspects of the job. Frequency of mention was employed to tabulate the responses into distinguishable job aspects. The aspects of the job identified by the respondents as contributing most to job

satisfaction are included in Table 5 and those contributing most to job dissatisfaction in Table 6.

As shown in Table 5, the respondents identified 17 aspects of the job which contributed to the feeling of overall job satisfaction. The most frequently mentioned job aspect was the "freedom associated with the job" which accounted for 24.24 percent of the total responses. The comments reflected on the satisfaction derived from the flexibility in the determination of working hours and the autonomy provided the respondent. One coordinator stated:

I work out of my home which is ideal when there are young children involved and my hours are my own. I like the flexibility and feel am responsible enough to ensure that the job is done.

The next job aspect viewed as contributing most to jobs satisfaction was the "contact with people". This job aspect was indicated in 18.94 percent of the responses. The relationships with people as a source of satisfaction were described by a coordinator:

I enjoy knowing and meeting people in the community and finding their talents that they could possibly share.

The third most frequently mentioned job aspect identified as a source of job satisfaction was the "sense of involvement and contribution" derived from the position. It was indicated in approximately 18 percent of the total responses. A coordinator described:

I enjoy working with adults to bring them new learning situations and to help them expand their knowledge in many different ways.

The three job aspects described above as contributing to overall job satisfaction represent approximately 18 percent of the 17 job aspects identified by the respondents but over 61 percent of the total number of responses. It would appear that the self-determination in the hours of work, the people contact, and the personal satisfaction

• Table 5

FREQUENCY AND PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF JOB ASPECTS IDENTIFIED AS CONTRIBUTING MOST TO JOB SATISFACTION (n = 132)*

JOB ASPECTS	FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
Freedom associated with job Contact with people Sense of involvement and contribution Wariety in the job Working to help the community Support of council Availability of supervisory assistance Responsibility given the coordinator Making use of my abilities Excitement of the field of adult education Salary Administration of salary Ease of doing the job Personal growth Rapport between hosting council and agencies Successful completion of courses Support from predecessor	32 25 24 9 9 7 5 5 4 3 1 1 1	24.24 18.94 18.18 6.82 6.82 5.30 3.79 3.79 3.03 2.27 2.27 0.76 0.76 0.76 0.76 0.76
Cotals	132	100.00

^{*} total number of responses

derived from providing the services are contributing most as sources of overall job satisfaction.

The frequency and percentage distribution of the job aspects seen as contributing most as sources of job dissatisfaction are included in Table 6. There were 20 aspects of the coordinators' job that were identified as sources of job dissatisfaction which were several more than the number of job aspects viewed as contributing to job satisfaction. Four respondents indicated that they could not identify any aspects of the job which contributed to job dissatisfaction. They reported satisfaction with the job in all its aspects. "Inadequate salary" was the most frequently mentioned job aspect contributing most to dissatisfaction and accounted for 15.18 percent of the total number of responses. A coordinator stated:

I do not like to ask my council to increase my pay although I'feel I deserve it. Its hard to ask volunteers for a salary even though the hours involved are longer than any full-time job I've had.

The "lack of council support" and "problems in the administration of finances" were the next most frequently referred to job aspects leading to job dissatisfaction. The two job aspects were mentioned equally as job dissatisfiers and in each case represented almost 13 percent of the responses. The further education council, through its member organizations, is viewed as an important element in the provision of coordinated adult education programming in the community. The commitment to this end by the councils was questioned by a number of respondents and consequently viewed as a source of dissatisfaction. The feeling resulted from as one coordinator described:

The lack of willingness of organizations to offer programs.

Table 6

FREQUENCY AND PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF JOB ASPECTS IDENTIFIED AS CONTRIBUTING MOST TO JOB DISSATISFACTION (n = 112)*

JOB ASPECTS		FREQUENCY	PERCENTAGE
Inadequate salary		17	15 10
Lack of council support		14	15.18
Problems in the administrat	ion of finances	14	12.50
Effect of job on personal a	and family life	10	12.50
Amount of time spent on job	ow remark title	. 10	8.93
Attitudes of community		8	7.14
lack of workshops for coord	linators	7	7.14
ack of access to course fa	cilities	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	. 6.25 4.46
ack of clarity as to role	of coordinator	5	- ·
ack of coordinator orienta	tion	<u>и</u> ⊶	4.46 3.57
Relationship with designate	d hosting authority	7 LL	3.57
ack of recognition for coo	rdinator efforts	2	2.68
Relationship with Further E	ducation Services	2	2.68
Boredom in the job		2	• .
Inadequacies in skills to d	o the iob	2	1.79
ack of office facilities		, <u>2</u> 2	1.79 1.79
Administrative focus; not g	etting at community	,	1.79
problems	-	1	0.89
lo opportunities for distan	ce learning	1	0.89
solation of community; can	't hire instructors	1	0.89
instructors overly-dependent	t on coordinator	1	0.89
			0.03
'otals ₍₎		112	100.00

^{*} total number of responses

Related to this concern was the overall view of the respective roles of the coordinator and the members of the council in regards to programming. A coordinator expressed dissatisfaction with:

The willingness of some council members to have me do all of their programming for them.

The "problems in the administration of finances" emerged as a source of dissatisfaction from the difficulties encountered at the different stages of the administrative process. Policies with respect to the specific pre-determined allocation of funds and procedures on how financial resources are to be allocated were the main areas of concern On policy, a coordinator stated:

I feel I am restrained by our limited budget and would like to see our grant monies lumped as I can apply it to the areas I feel it is needed the most.

One coordinator commented as follows on the administrative procedures as a source of dissatisfaction:

The administrative procedures demanded by both Further Education Services and the local council are not streamlined.

The "effect of the job on personal and family life" was the fourth most frequently reported job aspect which contributed most as a source of job dissatisfaction. Approximately nine percent of the responses provided an indication of the intrusion of the job into personal and family life. The evening and week-end work were cited as the main concerns and as one coordinator described:

I have to be available to the public at all times during the week. I resent people who phone my home on special holidays and Sundays.

Though the responses identifying the job aspects as resulting in dissatisfaction were spread more evenly through a greater number of job aspects than the category of satisfaction, it would appear that the inadequate salary, the lack of council participation, the problems

associated with the administration of the financial resources, and the effect of the job on personal and family life are contributing most to overall job dissatisfaction.

Sub-Problem 1.3

"To what extent are the findings for overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction with the job aspects consistent with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction developed by Hertzberg, Mausner, and Synderman (1959)?"

An additional analysis of the data which emerged from the content analysis of Section G of the questionnaire was undertaken to determine the degree to which these findings are consistent with the theoretical framework devised by Hertzberg and associates (1959).

The dual-factor theory (Hertzberg et al. 1959) was based principally on the premise that job attitudes could be categorized according to a motivator/hygiene dichotomy. Hertzberg et al. (1959:44) determined that the motivator variables: achievement, recognition, work itself, advancement, and responsibility could result in job satisfaction but not dissatisfaction. They also found that the hygiene variables: salary, supervision, interpersonal relations, physical working conditions, policies and administrative practices, possibility of growth, status, personal life, and job security could produce job dissatisfaction but not satisfaction.

To facilitate analysis, the job aspects personally identified by the respondents as contributing to job satisfaction and dissatisfaction were regrouped as motivator and hygiene variables as described

by Hertzberg. There were, however, no job aspects identified by the respondents that could be placed with the advancement, status, and job security variables and were consequently not used in this study.

The statistical analysis employed to determine the relationship of the study findings with the dual-factor theory involved the comparison of the percentage contributions of the job aspects to overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction regrouped as motivator and hygiene variables. This approach was used, as well, by Armann (1981) who examined the job satisfaction of Directors of Nursing. The contribution of the job aspects regrouped as motivator variables to overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction are reported in Table 7. As motivator variables, these job aspects accounted for more than 85 percent of the job satisfaction reported and approximately 21 percent of the job dissatisfaction. The motivator variables were identified by the respondents as sources of satisfaction over four times more often than as sources of dissatisfaction. The regrouping of the job aspects as hygiene variables and the percentage contribution of the job aspects to satisfaction and dissatisfaction are shown in Table 8. The data indicates that the respondents identified the hygiene variables as sources of dissatisfaction more than five times more often than as sources of satisfaction. The job aspects as hygiene variables provided for 79.46 percent of the dissatisfaction and 14.40 percent of the satisfaction reported.

It was also observed that in relationship with the motivator and hygiene variables the respondents experienced greatest satisfaction with the recognition and the responsibilities associated with the job. The two variables respectively accounted for 37.12 and 28.03 percent of the

Table 7

PERCENTAGE CONTRIBUTION OF JOB ASPECTS REGROUPED AS MOTIVATOR VARIABLES TO OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AND DISSATISFACTION

MOTIVATOR VARIABLES	PERCI	ENTAGE
A	S SATISFIER	AS DISSATISFIER
Achievement		
Successful completion of courses Ease of doing the job	0.76 0.7 6	
Recognition		
Sense of involvement and contribution Contact with people	18.18 18.94	, •
Lack of recognition for efforts Access to course facilities	%	2.68 4.46
Work Itself		•
Variety in the job Help the community	6.82 6.82	
Excitement in adult education Community attitudes Community isolation; can't hire	2.27	7.14
instructors Boredom in the job Overly-dependent instructors Technology lacking for distance education Skill inadequacies	1	0.89 1.79 0.89 0.89
Making use of my abilities	3.03	1.79 ,
Responsibility '(Freedom in the job	•	•
Responsibility given the coordinator	24.24 3.79	
Cotals	85.61	20.53
	3	

Table 8

PERCENTAGE CONTRIBUTION OF JOB ASPECTS REGROUPED AS HYGIENE VARIABLES TO OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AND DISSATISFACTION

INCITATE MADIA DE DO	PERCI	ENTAGE
HYGIENE VARIABLES A	S SATISFIER	AS DISSATISFIE
Salary		······································
Inadequate salary Adequate compensation	2.27	15.18
Supervision		•
Relationship with designated hosting authority		•
Relationship with Further Education	N .	3.57
Services Availability of supervisory assistance	3.79	2.68
Interpersonal Relations		
Lack of council support Rapport between council and agencies Support of council Support from predecessor	0.76 5.30 0.76	12.50
Vorking Conditions		
Lack of office facilities		1.79
Policies and Administrative Practices Problems in administration of finances Administrative focus; not getting at		12.50
community problems Lack of coordinator orientation		0.89
Amount of time spent on job	٠	3.57 7.14
Lack of coordinator workshops Lack of role clarity for coordinator		6.25
Administration of salary	0.76	4.46
ossibility of Growth		
Personal growth	0.76	
ersonal Life Effect of job on personal and fine and serious	•	
Effect of job on personal and family life		8.93
otals	14.40	79.46

satisfaction reported. Greatest dissatisfaction was indicated with the policies and administrative practices (34.81 percent of the reported dissatisfaction), salary (15.18 percent of the reported dissatisfaction), and interpersonal relations (12.50 percent of the reported dissatisfaction).

Though the job aspects identified in Sub-Problem 1.2 could not be categorized in the advancement, status, and job security variables, the results indicated that the study findings were consistent with the dual-factor theory. The motivator variables were a source of job satisfaction to a large extent and the hygiene variables a source of job dissatisfaction.

Summary

Problem 1: Overall Job Satisfaction has been examined in Section 2. It was measured from the responses to four items in Section B of the questionnaire and the open-response item in Section G where the respondents were able to personally select aspects of the job as sources of satisfaction and dissatisfaction. In addition, the job aspects identified by the respondents were regrouped as motivator and hygiene variables to determine the congruency of the results with the dual-factor theory (Hertzberg et al., 1959).

The respondents reported moderate overall job satisfaction in relation to the response categories employed in the four items measuring overall satisfaction. The greatest percentage of respondents, 97.1 percent, experienced overall satisfaction with the effectiveness of the council in meeting the adult education needs of the community. Slightly below 90 percent of the respondents indicated, in each case, overall

Three job aspects out of a total of 17 identified by the respondents accounted for more than 60 percent of the responses indicating the aspects of the job as sources of satisfaction. The freedom and flexibility associated with the job contributed the most to overall satisfaction with over 24 percent of the responses. The aspects of the coordinators' job which provided contact with people and the sense of involvement and contribution were viewed as significant sources of satisfaction with each respectively associated with 18.94 and 18.18 percent of the total responses.

Overall job dissatisfaction was most related to the inadequate salary paid to the coordinators with over 15 percent of the responses addressing this aspect of the job. The lack of council support and the problems associated with the administration of finances were viewed as other important aspects of the job leading to job dissatisfaction. Each of these job aspects accounted for 12.50 percent, of the total responses.

The findings from the regrouping of the job aspects as motivator and hygiene variables were generally consistent with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction. The job aspects as motivator variables contributed more than four times as much to overall satisfaction than dissatisfaction. The hygiene variables accounted for over 79 percent of the reported dissatisfaction in comparison with 14.40 percent of the job satisfaction, or contributed approximately five times more often to

dissatisfaction than satisfaction. The motivator variables generally behaved as satisfiers and the hygiene variables as dissatisfiers which were consistent with and supportive of the dual-factor theory as developed by Hertzberg et al. (1959).

SECTION 3

PROBLEM 2: FACET SATISFACTION AND IMPORTANCE

Section 3 provides the findings on the job facets which are identified as contributing most to job satisfaction and to job dissatisfaction. In addition, it will report on the job facets which are considered as most important to the feeling of job satisfaction.

The responses to the items contained in Section C: Working Conditions, Section D: Council-Related Matters, Section E: Further Education Services-Related Matters, and Section F: Occupation-Related Matters provided the data for the analysis of item satisfaction and importance.

Sub-Problem 2.1

"Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as contributing most to the feeling of job satisfaction?"

To facilitate the analysis of the job facets which contribute most to job satisfaction, the response categories for the 32 facet items were collapsed into a "satisfaction/dissatisfaction" scale.

The determination of satisfaction to a facet item involved the collapsing of the response categories indicating slight satisfaction, moderate

satisfaction, and high satisfaction. The facet items with which at least 90 percent of the respondents indicated satisfaction are reported in Table 9. The items are ranked according to the mean satisfaction ratings obtained. The facet items associated with the four highest mean satisfaction ratings obtained involve those facets of the job that relate to the further education council. The highest mean satisfaction rating emerged from the freedom to seek out new ideas and to introduce them to the council. The relationship with members of council obtained the second highest mean satisfaction level and was associated with the highest percentage of respondents indicating satisfaction. Almost 99 percent of the respondents indicated satisfaction with this facet item. The facet items with the third and fourth highest mean satisfaction levels focused on the councils' willingness to accept coordinator-initiated innovations and the involvement of the coordinator in council decision-making.

Sub-Problem 2.2

"Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as contributing most to the feeling of job dissatisfaction?"

The assessment of the job facets which were reported to contribute the most to job dissatisfaction required the collapsing of the response categories associated with the ratings of slight dissatisfaction, moderate dissatisfaction, and high dissatisfaction. Table 10 presents the facet items with which more than 20 percent of the respondents reported dissatisfaction. The items are ranked from the highest level of dissatisfaction reported and in the ascending order of

Table 9

ITEMS FOR WHICH THE HIGHEST PERCENTAGE OF SATISFACTION WERE OBTAINED

		PERCENTAGE SATISFIED	MEAN
,	Freedom to seek out new ideas and introduce them to council	98.5	5.59*
	Relationship with members of council	98.6	5.47
	Willingness of council to accept coordinator- initiated innovations	94.1	5.43
	Involvement in council decision-making	97.1	5.38
٠	Responsibility associated with position	97.1	5.24
	Physical working conditions	91.2	5.03
	Sense of accomplishment	95.6	5.02
	Accountability for success of programs	91.2	4.99

^{(1) *} Ranked according to mean values.

⁽²⁾ Items with at least 90 percent of respondents reporting satisfaction are reported.

Table 10

ITEMS FOR WHICH THE HIGHEST PERCENTAGE OF DISSATISFACTION WERE OBTAINED

JOB FACET ITEM	PERCENTAGE DISSATISFIED	MEAN
Way salary is determined	33.8	3.78*
Access to clerical personnel for assistance	29.3	3.90
Salary received	33.8	3.96
Level of resource allocations	29.4	4.08
Opportunities for professional development and inservice education	28.0	4.15
Recognition given coordinator by other professions	23.5	4.16
Community facilities for fine arts, recreation	28.0	4.18
Effect of job on personal and family life	22.1	4.40
Number of hours expected to work	25.0	4.46
Access to program facilities and equipment	20.5	4.60

^{(1) *}Ranked according to mean values.

⁽²⁾ Items with at least 20 percent of respondents reporting dissatisfaction are reported.

mean satisfaction levels. Most dissatisfaction was indicated with the way that salary is determined. The item achieved a mean satisfaction level of 3.78 and was seen by 33.8 percent of the respondents as contributing most to dissatisfaction. The second highest level of dissatisfaction was related to the access to clerical personnel to provide assistance to the coordinator. The salary received was the next item in order as contributing most to job dissatisfaction.

Matters involving salary, the level and the process involved in its determination, appear to be seen as major contributors to job dissatisfaction.

Sub-Problem 2.3

"Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as being most important to the feeling of job satisfaction?"

A further analysis of the 32 facet items was undertaken to determine the importance attached to each facet item to the feeling of job satisfaction. Table 11 provides the facet items which were associated with mean importance levels greater than 4.0. This indicates that the facet items reported are, in relationship to the response categories employed, considered to be very important to the feeling of job satisfaction. According to the mean importance values obtained, the three job facets reported as being the most important to the feeling of job satisfaction were associated with council-related activities. The relationship with members of the council was considered to be the most important job facet and was accompanied with a mean importance rating of 4.43. The next most important job facet was indicated to be

Table 11

ITEMS FOR WHICH THE HIGHEST MEAN VALUES OF IMPORTANCE WERE OBTAINED

JOB FACET ITEM	MEAN
Relationship with members of council	4.43
Freedom to seek out.new ideas and introduce them to council	4.34
Willingness of council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations	•
Sense of accomplishment	4.31
	4.24
Access to program facilities and equipment	4.16
Experience with community attitudes to adult education	4.16
Level of resource allocations	4.15
Responsibility associated with position	4.13
Availability of useful advice to assist with problems	4.13
Council expectations of the coordinator	4.13
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	4.07
Effect of job on personal and family life	4.07
Involvement in council decision-making	4.03

Items with mean importance levels greater than 4.0 are reported.

the freedom to seek out and introduce new ideas to the council. The willingness of the council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations was reported to be the third most important job facet to the feeling of job satisfaction and was associated with a mean importance rating of 4.31.

Summary

Section 3 has provided the analysis of the data relevant to Problem 2: Facet Satisfaction and Importance. To facilitate the analysis of the 32 job facet items contained in Sections C,D,E, and F of the questionnaire in terms of the contribution of each item to feelings of job satisfaction and dissatisfaction, the response categories were collapsed into a dichotomous "satisfaction/dissatisfaction" scale. In addition, the importance of the job facets to feelings of job satisfaction was reported.

The three facet items that the respondents identified as contributing most to job satisfaction focused on the activities involving the further education council. At the same time, the respondents indicated that the three most important job facets to feelings of satisfaction were associated with council-related activities. The relationship with members of the council, the freedom to seek out and introduce new ideas to the council, and the willingness of the council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations were the job facets identified as contributing most to job satisfaction and as most important to feelings of job satisfaction.

An examination of the facet items contributing most to feelings. of job dissatisfaction revealed that matters involving salary were.

reported to be the sources of most dissatisfaction. The amount of salary received and the way that salary is determined were two of the three job facets indicated as contributing most to job dissatisfaction.

SECTION 4

PROBLEM 3: OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AND COORDINATOR CHARACTERISTICS

This section of the chapter on data analysis reports on the differences between groups to the level of overall job satisfaction indicated on Item 4, Section B of the questionnaire. The investigation will examine the differences between groups categorized according to the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics of the respondents on overall job satisfaction.

Analysis of variance was employed to determine which groups, categorized on the basis of the coordinator characteristics, reported statistically significant overall job satisfaction. Tables 12 to 26 contain the results of the analysis of variance and are reported adjacent to the discussion of each variable.

Sub-Problem 3.1

"To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the personal-social characteristics: sex, age, other employment, population of community, location by region?"

Sex: Table 12. Analysis of variance indicated no significant differences between males and females on overall job satisfaction.

Table 12

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ON THE BASIS OF SEX

	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	T VALUE	TWO-TAIL PROBABILITY
Female	09	4.87	1.08	99	-0.15	0.89
		4.93	0.93			•2
					•	

Table 13

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO AGE

36 20 H.70	AGE BROUP	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN SCORE	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	Ĺı	
20 H.70	15 or less	98		0.88	99	0.39	0.68
11		20	h. 70	1.45			
	6 or greater	a a	2° 00	0.77	•		

Table 14

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG, COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ON THE BASIS OF OTHER FYPLOYMENT, HELD

OTHER EMPLOYMENT	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES, OF FREEDOM	T VALUE	TWO-TAIL PROBABILITY
Yes	27	5.11	0.75	65	1.66	0.10
Š.	Q	4.71	1.21			

Table 15

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO THE POPULATION OF THE COMMUNITY

POPULATION OF COMMUNITY	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN SCORE	STAWARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	4	Δ.
5,000 or Less.	29	4.78	0.96	99	1.38	0.26
5,001 - 10,000	18.	4.78	1.22			
10,001 15,000	o	5.56	0.53			
15;001 or greater		, 4.82	1.33			

Table 16

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO THE LOCATION OF COUNCIL BY REGION

					· · ·
REGION	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN SCORÉ.	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF F FREEDOM	<u>д</u>
Northwest	10	5.15	0.88	65 0.28	0.89
Northeast '	15	£6.4	1.03		
Yellowhead	12 '	4.83	1.03		•
Central	12	4.67	1.37		•
South	17	88.4	1.11		

Age: Table 13. No statistically significant differences on overall job satisfaction were determined by the analysis of variance between groups categorized by age.

Other employment: Table 14. Analysis of variance indicated no significant differences on overall job satisfaction between groups categorized on the basis of whether other employment was held.

Population of community: Table 15. With respect to the population of the community, the F value of 1.38 with an associated probability of 0.26 indicated that there were no significant differences on overall job satisfaction between the culation categories employed in the study.

Location by region: Table 16. No statistically significant differences on overall job satisfaction were indicated by the analysis of variance between groups classified according to the location of the council in one of the five regions in the province.

Sub-Problem 3.2

"To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the professional characteristics: coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organizations?"

Coordinator experience: Table 17. Analysis of variance indicated no significant differences on overall job satisfaction between groups based on the years of experience as a coordinator.

Administrative experience: Table 18. Analysis of variance on overall job satisfaction indicated no significant differences between the means for groups categorized according to the years of administrative experience in educational settings.

Level of schooling: Table 19. With respect to the level of schooling, the F value of 2.37 with an associated probability of .08 indicated that there were no significant differences on overall job satisfaction between groups.

Attendance at professional development/continuing education activities: Table 20. No significant differences on overall job satisfaction were indicated by the analysis of variance between groups based on the number of professional development/continuing education activities attended.

Membership and participation in community organizations:

Table 21. Analysis of variance indicated no significant differences
on overall job satisfaction between groups classified by the number of
organizations with coordinator membership and participation.

Table 17

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO YEARS OF EXPERIENCE AS A COORDINATOR

YEARS AS COORDINATOR	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEV LATTON	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	~ [Li.	Ъ
1 or less	25	† 1 6. ti	1.04	η9	0.32	.0.73
2 - 3	. 27	1.7.1	1.10			
4 of more	. 19	4.95	1.13		*	
		. **.			7	

Table 18

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO YEARS OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPERIENCE IN EDUCATIONAL SETTING

					٠	
YEARS AS ADMINISTRATOR	NUMBERS OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN SCORE	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	Ĺ	Д
1 or less	21	4.72	1.23	99	1.06	0.37
2 - 4	22	. 18 . 4	0.92			
5 - 7	15.	4.80	1.15		•	
8 or more	6	5.44	0.73			
•			•			

Table 19

ONE-WAY ANALYSIG OF VARIANCE OF OVERÂLL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO LEVEL OF SCHOOLING

	.					•
LEVEL OF SCHOOLING R	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	[L.,	۵
Some or complete high school	20	5.30	0.80	99.	2.37	0.08
Technical/vocational training	ω	4,17	1.17		. 11	•
Some university or college	21	4.67	1.28			
One or more degrees	20	88.4.	0.89			
v	•			•		

Table 🕻

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ON THE PASIS OF THE NUMBER OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND CONTINUING EDUCATION ACTIVITIES ATTENDED

	•					
ACTIVITIES ATTENDED	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN SCORE	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDON	Ŀ	
0.	5	5.40	1.34		1.69	0.16
-	/ 11	4.59	1.16			
2	21	4.57	1.33			
e,	15	1,.93	0.70	•		
4 or more	16	5.31	09.0			

Pable 21

CE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ON GOORDINATORS WITH COORDINATOR MEMBERSHIP AND PARTICIPATION

-	ď	0.52	7	•	
	Ľι, ι	99.0	•	•	<i>\$</i>
	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	99			★
	STANDARD DEVIATION	1.02	1.26	0.52	
	MEAN	00	1	20 P	
	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	04	21 .	g	
	NUMBER OF ORGANIZATIONS	1 - 3	9 - 1	7 or more	

Sub-Problem 3.3

"To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the organizational characteristics: primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as a coordinator, salary level, type of designated local hosting authority?"

Primary area of involvement; hours per week on administrative activities: Table 22. There were no significant differences on overall job satisfaction determined by the analysis of variance between groups categorized by the number of hours per week devoted to the administrative functions of the job.

Primary area of involvement; hours per week on leadership activities: Table 23. With respect to the number of hours per week spent on the leadership functions of the job, no statistically significant differences were indicated by the analysis of variance between groups on overall job satisfaction.

Hours per week paid as coordinator: Table 24. Analysis of variance on overall job satisfaction indicated no significant differences between groups classified according to number of hours per week paid as coordinators.

Salary level: Table 25. No significant differences on overall job satisfaction were indicated by the analysis of variance between groups categorized on the basis of annual salary level.

Table 22

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS-CLASSIFIED ON THE BASIS OF THE NUMBER OF HOURS PER WEEK DEVOTED TO ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIVITIES

HOUKS PER WEEK ON ADMINISTRATION	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	C.
1 - 5	18	ħ6 ° ħ	1.11	. 199	0.70 0.56
6 - 10	29	н.67	1.05		•
11 – 15	10	5.20	0.63		
16 or more	80	н.75	7.39		

Table 23

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ON THE BASIS OF NUMBER OF HOURS PER WEEK DEVOTED TO LEADERSHIP ACTIVITIES

HOURS PER WEEK NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS MEAN SCORE 1 - 5 11 5.00 6 - 10 17 5.12 11 - 15 4.48	MEAN				
11 17 20	SCORE	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	ſω	<u>α</u> ,
17 (5.00	0.89	99	1.41	0.25
20 (5.12	0.78	•		•
	84.4	1.33			•
16 or more 5.00	2.00	1.0	•		
		• ,	٠٠,	•	•

Table 24

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO NUMBER OF HOURS PER WEEK PAID AS A COORDINATOR

HOURS PER WEEK PAID AS COORDINATOR	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVLATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	<u>Γ</u> .
10 or less	11	5.09	1.04	99	0.74 0.58
11 – 15	13	μ.92	1,12		
16 - 20	. 56	4.67	1.24		
21 or more	17	5.12	0.70	•	

Table 25

ONE-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED ON THE PASIS/OF ANNUAL SALARY

SALARY PER YEAR	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM	Ĉ.
\$5,000 or less	15.	5.20	0.77	98	1.89 0.15
\$5,001 - \$10,000	911	4.70	1.15		
\$10,001 or more	;	5.33	0.51		
					· / /

Table 26

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIF ACCORDING TO THE TYPE OF DESIGNATED LOCAL HOSTING AUTHORITY

		~			,	
TYPE OF HOSTING AUTHORITY	NUMBER OF RESPONDENTS	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	DEGREES OF FREEDOM.	T	TWO-TAIL PROBABILITY
•						
School authority	23	4.71	1:11	£9	-3.70	0.001*
Postsecondary institution	12	5.50	0.52			

* Difference between means significant at .05 level.

Type of designated local hosting authority: Table 26. With respect to the type of designated local hosting authority, the two-tail probability of .001 of obtaining a T value of -3.70 indicated a significant difference on overall job satisfaction occurred between the means of the groups identified as school authorities or postsecondary institutions. It was revealed that the postsecondary institutions' mean score of 5.50 was significantly different than the mean score of 4.71 desociated with the school authorities. This indicated that the respondents with postsecondary institutions as designated local hosting authorities were significantly more satisfied with their job in all its aspects than were the respondents with school authorities as designated local hosting authorities.

Summary

Analysis of the differences between groups on overall job satisfaction revealed that significant differences in satisfaction with the job in all its aspects were associated with only the type of designated local hosting authority. It was indicated that coordinators with school authorities as designated local hosting authorities experienced significantly less overall job satisfaction than coordinators with postsecondary institutions as designated local hosting authorities.

SECTION 5

PROBLEM 4: SATISFACTION AND JOB FACTORS

Section 5 reports on the findings of the factor analysis of the 32 job facet items. Factor analysis was undertaken for the pool of 32 items in order to reduce the number of items into fewer, more easily interpretable factors underlying the concept of job satisfaction. To determine the commonality between the job facet items, a factor analysis using varimax rotation was performed. The procedure of using weighted satisfaction measures for each job facet was adapted from Onuoha's (1980) study. This required the multiplication of the respondents' rating of satisfaction by the respondents' rating of the importance of the job facet to satisfaction.

In addition, stepwise multiple regression was applied to the data to determine which of the job factors, as predictor variables, was associated with the greatest percentage of the total variance in overall job satisfaction.

Sub-Problem 4.1 ·

"Which job factors contribute to coordinators' overall job satisfaction?"

A factor analysis of the weighted satisfaction measures provided a seven factor solution which gave the greatest degree of meaning. Job factors were identified by the facet items which were associated with loading values of .40 or greater. The seven job factors, the percentage of the variance accounted for by each factor, and the

facet items associated with each factor with loading values of .40 or greater are reported in Table 27. The seven factor solution accounted for 67.7 percent of the total variance. One facet item, your involvement in council decision-making, loaded on three factors. It was determined that five facet items loaded on two factors and were as follows: way in which consultation with the designated local hosting authority concerning working conditions is conducted; responsibility associated with position; your accountability for success of programs; level of resource allocations; and the authority associated with the position. One facet item, council expectations of you as a coordinator, did not load at the .40 level on any of the factors.

The descriptions of the seven job factors are as follows:

Factor 1: Liaison with Council. The liaison with council refers / to the interaction between the coordinator and the further education council. The responsibilities provided to and the acceptance of the capabilities of the coordinator by the council are influential to the relationship between the coordinator and the council.

Factor 2: Liaison with Further Education Services. This describes the interface between the coordinator and Further Education Services. The degree of interest and appreciation shown by central office to the difficulties encountered in the field, to a large degree, determine the reported relationship with Further Education Services.

Factor 3: Working Conditions. The working conditions for the coordinator are characterized by the salary considerations, the number of hours expected to work, and the time devoted to the operational/

Table 27

SUMMARY OF FACTORS EXTRACTED FROM FACTOR ANALYSIS

FACTOR	JOB FACET ITEMS+	LOADING	PERCENTAGE OF VARIANCE*
1. Liaison with Council	Freedom to introduce new ideas to council	• 94	35.9
	Willingness of council to accept coordinator ideas	.70	t .
	Relationship with members of council	.60	
	Authority over budget preparation	.54	
	Sense of accomplishment .	.50	
	Accountability for success of programs	.50	
•	Involvement in council decision-making	.46	
	Physical working conditions	.46	
	Responsibility associated with position	.43	

Table 27 (Continued)

			
FACTOR	JOB FACET ITEMS	LOADING	PERCENTAGE OF VARIANCE
2. Liaison with Further Education	Relationships with Further Education Services	.78	8.3
Services	Way policies of Further Education Services are put into practice	65	
a a	Level of resource allocations	.53 🛶	
	Effect of job on personal or family life	.49	•
	Availability of useful advice	.47	•
	Opportunities for professional development	.44	
Merconstant	Authority associated with position	.40	·
3. Working Conditions	Salary received :	.88	7.2
	Way salary is determined	.69	
	Number of hours expected to work	.55°	
	Portion of time devoted to operational duties	.53	·
•	Level of resource allocations	.44	

Table 27 (Continued)

FACTOR	JOB FACET ITEM	LOADING	PERCENTAGE OF VARIANCE
4. Recognition	Recognition by other professions	.7 6	5.1
•	Social position in community	.63	
	Feeling of job security	.51	e de la companya de La companya de la companya de l
	Recognition by others	.48	
4	Consultation with designated hosting authority regarding working conditions	.45	et e
	Authority associated with position	.40	•
5. Coordinator- Community Work Involvement	Access to program facilities and equipment	.63	4.1
	Community attitudes to adult education	. 54	
	Accountability for success of programs	.52	
	Involvement in council decision—making	.45	•
	Evaluation by designated hosting authority	.45	
	Sense of accomplishment	.42	

Table 27 (Continued)

FACTOR	JOB FACET ITEMS	LOADING	PERCENTAGE OF VARIANCE
6. Work Demands	Responsibility associated with position	.65	3.8
	Facilities for recreation and leisure	:60	·
	Variety of tasks	.50	
	Involvement in council decision-making	.49	•
7. Liaison with	Consultation		
Designated Local Hosting Authority	Consultation with designated hosting authority regarding working conditions	.47	3.3
R. C.	Access to clerical personnel for assistance	.41	

⁺ Items reported are associated with loading values of .40 or greater.

^{*} Total variance of seven factors = 67.7 percent.

administrative aspects of the job. In addition, the level of resource allocations is included in this factor to the extent that it enables the developmental work of adult education activities in the community.

Factor 4: Recognition: The recognition of the coordinator is related to and a function of the acceptance shown the coordinator. It is the status that is achieved through one's work with peers, superiors, other professions, and the community.

Factor 5: Coordinator-Community Work Involvement. This describes the interaction in the work mileau between the coordinator and the community. The fostering of a positive relationship with the community is an important aspect of the position and the degree to which it is attained is employed as a measure of success in the work. The relationship with the community is reflected by the attitudes of the community towards adult education, the accessibility to program facilities, the successful completion of courses, the involvement in council decision-making, and the sense of accomplishment felt by the coordinator.

Factor 6: Work Demands. The work demands of the coordinators' position are associated with the nature of the job that is performed. It relates to the coordinators' view of the responsibilities and the variety in task demands which characterize the position. In addition, the work demands influence concerns with respect to the availability of appropriate facilities for leisure and recreational use.

Factor 7: Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority.

This refers to the interaction in the work environment between the coordinator and the designated local hosting authority. The relationship is influential on the working conditions for the coordinator and the availability of clerical personnel to provide assistance.

Sub-Problem 4.2

"Which job factors are the best predictors of overall job satisfaction?"

The factor analysis of the weighted satisfaction measures associated with the 32 job facet items resulted in a seven factor solution. The seven factors were identified as the Liaison with Council, Liaison with Further Education Services, Working Conditions, Recognition, Coordinator—Community Work Involvement, Work Demands, and Liaison with the Designated Local Hosting Authority. The stepwise multiple regression procedure was next employed to determine which of the seven variables would provide the best prediction of the criterion variable, overall job satisfaction. Table 28 reports on the results of the analysis through multiple regression. The table contains the criterion variable, the seven predictor variables, the significance associated with the predictor variables, and the individual and cumulative percentage of variance in overall job satisfaction accounted for by each predictor variable.

As indicated in Table 28, the best predictor of overall job satisfaction was the variable, Coordinator-Community Work Involvement. However, the percentage of variance in overall job satisfaction

Table 28

STEPWISE MULTIPLE RESRESSION USING SEVEN PREDICTOR VARIABLES WITH THE CRITERION VARIABLE OVERALL JOB SATISFACTION

•	PERCENTAGE OF VARIANCE	INDIVIDUAL CUMULATIVE	2 11.	1.07 4.18	0.52 μ.70		0.32 5,667	0.12 5.79	0.07 5.86	
	INCREASE IN PREDICTION	CI EI	2.12 15		1.05 .38	74. 68.0	0.75 .59	0.63 .71	0.53 .81	
	PREDICTOR VARIABLES		1. Coordinator-Community Work Involvement	Council	3. Liaison with Further Education Services	4. Working Conditions	5. Liaison with Designated Hosting Authority	6. Work Demands	7. Recognition	
	CRITERION		Overall Job	Satisfaction		•		\$ \frac{1}{2}		

accounted for by the variable was only 3.11 percent. The seven variables collectively were associated with only 5.86 percent of the variance and none were indicated to be significant predictors of overall job satisfaction. Though not significant the predictor variables, Liaison with Council and Liaison with Further Education Services, respectively accounted for 1.07 percent and 0.52 percent of the variance in overall job satisfaction.

Summary

Problem 4 related to the identification of the job factors contributing to the overall jobsatisfaction of the coordinators and the determination of the job factors providing the best prediction of overall job satisfaction. The factor analysis procedure provided seven job factors and were identified by the job facet items with loading values of .40 or greater. The seven factors were Liaison with Council, Liaison with Further Education Services, Working Conditions, Recognition, Coordinator-Community Work Involvement, Work Demands, and Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. A stepwise multiple regression analysis indicated that the combination of the seven job factors accounted for only 5.86 percent of the variance in overall job satisfaction. The best predictor of overall job satisfaction was determined to be the factor, Coordinator-Community Work Involvement. which accounted for 3.11 percent of the variance. The analysis also revealed that none of the factors were significant predictors of overall job satisfaction.

SECTION 6

PROBLEM 5: SATISFACTION FACTORS AND COORDINATOR CHARACTERISTICS

The last section in the chapter on data analysis addresses problem statement 5 and reports on the degree to which the level of coordinator satisfaction with the job factors is associated with differences between groups categorized according to the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics of the coordinators. The investigation is based on the seven job factors that emerged from the factor analysis of the 32 weighted job facet items. Analysis of variance, T Test for two groups and F Test for three or more groups, was employed to compare the mean scores associated with the different groups. Significance between mean levels was established at .05 level of probability. In addition, the Scheffe procedure was used in conjunction with the F Test to determine the groups with statistically significant mean values at the .10 level.

Sub-Problem 5.1

"To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the personal-social characteristics: sex, age, other employment, population of community, location by region?"

Table 29 reports the results of the analysis of variance between groups classified by the personal-social characteristics on satisfaction with the seven job factors.

Sex. Analysis of variance indicated no significant differences

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF SATISFACTION WITH JOB FACTORS ANONE COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED BY PERSONAL-SOCIAL CHARACTERISTICS

CHARACTERISTICS	FACTOR 1: LIAISON WITH COUNCIL	FACTOR 2: LIAISON WITH FURTHER EDICA- TION SERVICES	FACTOR 3: WORKING CONDITIONS	FACTOR 4: RECOGNITION	FACTOR 5: COORDINATOR— COMMUNITY WORK INVOLVEMENT	FACTOR 6: WORK DEPANDS	FACTOR 7: LIAISON WITH DESIGNATED HOST-	H
	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MFAN D	1.
Sex Female Male	.30 21.99 19.76	.76 17.65 16.96	.94 14.60 14.44	.99 15.80 15.79	.68 19.50 18.59			ديد إ
Age 35 or less 36 - 45 46 or greater	21.74 22.06 21.30	18.09 16.28 18.24	14.26 15.00 14.91	16.13 14.52 17.06	19.51 19.15 19.53	19.99 17.83 19.47	, 76 15.59 15.00 17.11	1 00
Other Employment Yes No	.62 21.36 22.03	17.58 17.57	14.60 14.58	15.89 15.75	18.99 19.69	19.21	16.02	i n
Population of Community 5,000 or less 5,001 - 10,000 10,000 15,000 15,000 15,000	22.04 .80 20.84 22.81 22.28	18.27 16.29 18.99 17.09	16.23 12.57 14.80 13.67	16.40 14.78 16.56 14.61	19.95 18.70 22.40	18.62 18.68 20.55	15.23 14.36 17.66	L 10
Location by Region Northwest Northeast Yellowhead Central South	20.02 21.67 22.43 23.01 22.10	18.02 17.99 19.27 17.15 16.93	15.54 15.60 15.07 14.85	15.68 .70 15.35 14.48 22.2 22.2 22.47	9.42 8.96 9.94 0.32	18.21 18.21 18.72 20.50 19.88	10.15 17.25 14.33 14.64 17.31	

on satisfaction with the seven job factors between males and females.

7

Age. No statistically significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors were determined with the analysis of variance between groups classified according to age.

Other employment. In terms of whether other employment was held, no significant differences were indicated between groups on satisfaction with the seven factors.

Population of community. Analysis of the data revealed no significant differences between groups of respondents classified on the basis of the population of their communities on satisfaction with the job factors.

Location by region. No statistically significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors were indicated by the analysis of variance between groups classified according to the location by region of the council.

Sub-Problem 5.2

"To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the professional characteristics: coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organizations?"

The results of the analysis of variance between groups classified according to the professional characteristics on satisfaction with the job factors are provided in Table 30.

Coordinator experience. Analysis of variance indicated no significant differences on satisfaction with the seven job factors between groups classified by the years of experience as a coordinator.

Administrative experience in an educational setting.

Statistically significant differences were found for one of the seven job factors between groups categorized on the basis of the years of administrative experience in educational settings. The data provided in Table 30 indicates that with a probability level of .05 respondents with one year or less administrative experience were significantly more satisfied with Working Conditions than were respondents with five to seven years of administrative experience in educational settings.

Level of schooling. There were no significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors between groups classified according to the highest level of schooling attained.

Attendance at professional development/continuing education activities. Analysis of data indicated that no significant differences existed on satisfaction with the job factors between groups classified by the number of professional development/continuing education activities attended in the previous year.

Table 30

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF SATISFACTION WITH JOB FACTORS AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED BY PROFESSIONAL CHARACTERISTICS

CHARACTERISTICS	FACTOR 1: LIAISON WITH COUNCIL	FACTOR 2: LIAISON WITH FURTHER EDUCA- TION SERVICES	FACTOR 3: WORKTNG CONDITTIONS	FACTOR 4: RECOGNITION	FACTOR 5: COORDINATOR- COMPLINITY WORK INVOLVEMENT	FACTOR 6: WORK DEMANDS	FACTOR 7: LIAISON WITH DESIGNATED HOST-	11 a
	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	HEAN P	MFAN		TWO MOTHORITY	. 1
Years Coordinator	08					MEAN P	MEAN	
Experience			64.	62	.72	24.	16	
1 or less 2 - 3 4 or more	21.27 21.87 22.01	18.28 16.54 17.85	15.21 15.08 13.38	16.10 14.80 16.28	19.34 19.92		14.69 14.19	
Years Administrator	98.	15					18.51	
Experience		17.	*so.	.63	.82	69.	60	
2 - 4	22.27	19.29	16.77+	16.76	19 64			
S - 7 - 8	21.44	16.29		15.23			15.55	
8 or more	21.23	19.05	14.42	14.81	18.65		16.85	
Level of Schooling	90.	63	_	.			14.88	
righ school Technical/vocations	22.23		15.00	16.88	.26	8.	.87	ı
Some university	23.89	16.35	15.70	13.90	<u></u>		15.98	
lormore degrees	19.82	16.85		15.42	20.32	21.63	14.06 16.48	
					,		14.95	

Table 30 (Continued)

								,
CHARACITRISTICS	FACTOR 1: LIAISON WITH COUNCIL	FACTOR 2: LIAISON WITH FURTHER EDUCA- TION SERVICES	FACTOR 3: WORKING CONDITIONS	FACTOR 4: · RECOGNITION	FACTOR 5: COORDINATOR- COMMUNITY WORK INVOLVEMENT	FACTOR 6: WORK DEMANDS	FACTOR 7: LIAISON WITH DESIGNATED HOST- ING AUTHORITY	
	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	MEAN P	ı
Number of Professional Development Activities	.50	۳2.	.28	.13	.22	80.	. 57	
Attended (0 1	22.74	21.62	18.92	18.70	24.01	74.10	21 95	
3 2 5	72.53 20.27	18.65	13,66 · 15,49	14.90 17.51	18.42 19.67~	16.47	15.06 15.27	
ħ	23.05	17.96	14.38	13.62 15.17	17.68 . 20.08	17.96 19.73	14.93	•
Number of Community Organizations as Member	.56	36.	06.	71.	37.	.03	*05*	
	21.49	17.31	14.93 14.71	15.28 17.38	19.63	19.03 21.09+	14.22+ 19.23+	
	20.38	15.71	13.88	13.43	17.83	14.62+	11.58+	

* Significant differences between mean levels at .05 level.

+ Groups with significant differences.

Membership and participation in community organizations. With respect to the number of community organizations with coordinator membership and participation, two job factors were found on which there were statistically significant differences between the means of the groups. An examination of Table 30 indicated that significant differences between groups were found for Work Demands and Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. The job factor, Work Demands, was associated with a significant probability level of .03. An inspection of the mean scores revealed that the mean of respondents who indicated membership and participation in four to six community organizations was significantly higher than the mean for respondents with membership and participation in seven or more community organizations. Thus, coordinators with membership and participation in four to six community organizations were more satisfied with Work Demands than were coordinators with membership and participation in seven or more community organizations.

However, with Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority which was associated with a probability level of .02, an examination of the means of the groups indicated that the mean level for the group with membership and participation in four to six organizations was significantly different to the mean scores with the groups indicating one to three and seven or more organizations. Therefore, coordinators with membership in and commitment to four to six community organizations were significantly more satisfied with Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority than were the groups associated with one to three and seven or more community organizations.

Sub-Problem 5.3

"To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the organizational characteristics: primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as a coordinator, salary level, type of designated local hosting authority?"

Table 31 reports the results of the analysis of variance between groups classified according to the organizational characteristics on satisfaction with the seven job factors.

Primary area of involvement; hours per week on administrative activities. Analysis of variance between groups categorized on the basis of hours per week devoted to administrative tasks revealed no significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors.

Primary area of involvement; hours per week on leadership activities. There were no significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors between groups classified according to the hours per week devoted to leadership tasks.

Hours per week paid as coordinator. With respect to the hours per week paid as coordinator, no statistically significant differences were found by the analysis of variance between groups on satisfaction with the job factors.

Salary level. Analysis of data revealed no significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors between groups classified on

Table 31

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF SATISFACTION WITH JOB FACTORS AMONG COORDINATORS CLASSIFIED BY ORGANIZATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS

	FACTOR 7: LIAISON WITH DESIGNATED HOST- ING AJTHORITY	۵.	. 25		.55		.92		88.	.2
	FACTOR 7: LIAISON WITH DESIGNAITED HO ING AUTHORITY	MEAN		16.05 14.40 13.02 19.62		15.36 16.75 13.70 16.90		14.36 16.46 15.68 15.19	16.05 15.37 16.91	14.92
_	ANDS	a	.16		22.		8		ड ं.	4.
	FACTOR 6: HORK DEPANDS	MEAN		20.08 17.76 21.77 19.31		21.20 18.26 16.23 20.86		19.36 18.09 19.75 19.98	19.38 19.13 19.95	19.06 19.58
7	TOR- Y WORK	4	8.		54.		8.		5i ≄	.32
	FACTOR 5: COORDINATOR— COMMINITY WORK INVOLVEMENT	HEAN	·	19, 70 17.86 20.98 22.54		20.65 19.14 18.40 20.85		20.25 17.92 20.02 19.55	20.91 19.00 18.73	19.08 20.87
	μ: TION	۵,	.36	•	.82		97.		.53	. 4 .
	FACTOR 4: RECOGNITION	MEAN		16.58 14.88 14.69 17.88		16.55 15.90 15.06 16.46		14.71 16.12 16.42 15.25	14.85 16.29 14.45	15.55
	3: ONS	Ь	.95	,	.73		<u>ਡ</u>	•	. 56	.23
	FACTOR 3: WORKTING CONDITIONS	MEAN		14.96 14.29 14.92 13.92		16.47 14.31 14.71 14.37		14.41 15.50 14.59 14.31	15,85 14,33 13,43	14.31 16.42
	ATOR 2: ATSON WITH WHER EDUCA- NA SERVICES	۵.	, ₺.		.68		.85		.51	64.
	FACTOR 2: LIAISON WITH FURTHER EDUCA- TION SERVICES	MEAN		18.35 16.77 19.33 16.83		19.34 16.71 18.07 17.81		16.36 17.88 18.02 18.21	19.10 17.11 17.34	17,25 19.04
	1: WITH	۵.	₹.		60.		.76		<i>π</i> :	77.
	FACTOR 1: LIAISON WITH COUNCIL	MEAN		21.31 21.09 24.02 23.18		23.21 20.40 21.00 24.02		20.91 21.17 22.39 22.64	22.55 21.62 20.87	21.63
	•		, ,							
	CHARACTERISTICS		Hours per Week for Administration	1 - 5 6 - 10 11 - 15 16 or more	Hours per Week for Leadership	1 - 5 6 - 10 11 - 15 16 or more	Hours per Week as Coordinator	10 or less 11 - 15 16 - 20 21 or more	\$5,000 or less \$5,001 - \$10,000 \$10,001 or more	Type of Designated Local Hosting Authority School, authority Postsecondary institution



the basis of annual salary.

Type of designated local hosting authority. Two groups were formed comprising those respondents who indicated their designated local hosting authority to be a school authority or a postsecondary institution authority. Analysis of variance between the two groups revealed no significant differences on satisfaction with the seven job factors.

Summary

Section 6 of the data analysis chapter examined the extent to which the level of coordinator satisfaction with the job factors was associated with the differences between groups formed on the basis of the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics of the coordinators. The seven job factors, determined through the factor analysis of the 32 weighted job facet items, were identified as Liaison with Council, Liaison with Further Education Services, Working Conditions, Recognition, Coordinator-Community Work Involvement, Work Demands, and Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. The analysis of variance procedure was employed to test the significance of observed mean differences between groups on satisfaction with the job factors.

On the personal-social characteristics of the coordinators, the analysis of variance procedure revealed no significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors between groups associated with the five variables in this category. That is, in terms of sex, age, whether other employment was held, population of community, and location by region it was concluded that there were no significant differences on

satisfaction with the seven job factors between groups.

With respect to the professional characteristics of the coordinators, it was found that significant differences on satisfaction existed with Working Conditions, Work Demands, and Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. The differences on satisfaction with Working Conditions were determined to be related to the years of administrative experience in educational settings. It was found that the group of coordinators with a year or less of administrative experience was more satisfied with this factor than was the group with five to seven years of administrative experience in educational settings. The variable, number of community organizations with coordinator membership and participation, was indicated to be associated with the differences on satisfaction with Work Demands and Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. The group of coordinators with membership and participation in four to six community organizations was significantly more satisfied with Work Demands than the group with attachments to seven or more community organizations. The group comprised of coordinators with membership and participation in four to six community organizations was also more satisfied with Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. In this case, the group was more satisfied with the factor than the other two groups associated with one to three and seven or more community organizations. There were no significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors between groups classified by the professional ariables: years of coordinator experience, level of schooling, and number of professional development/continuing education activities attended.

There were no significant differences on satisfaction with the

seven job factors found between groups associated with the organizational characteristics of the coordinators. Thus, there were no significant differences in the level of satisfaction to the factors related to the hours per week spent on administrative tasks, the hours per week devoted to the leadership tasks, the hours per week employed as a coordinator, the annual salary, and the type of designated local hosting authority.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND IMPLICATIONS

The final chapter contains a summary of the study relative to its purpose, instrumentation and research methodology, and major findings. In addition, the conclusions which emerged from the study findings and the implications of the study are provided.

SUMMARY

Purpose

The purpose of the study was to examine the extent to which further education coordinators in Alberta experienced job satisfaction. The intent, in this regard, was to investigate the overall job satisfaction of the coordinators and to identify the facets of the job that contributed to job satisfaction and dissatisfaction. In addition, the importance of the job facets to job satisfaction was also assessed. The measurement of overall job satisfaction included an open-response questionnaire item which provided the respondents the opportunity to personally identify aspects of the job contributing to overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction. The results of the content analysis were examined in relation to an existing theoretical framework for job satisfaction. A further objective of the study was to investigate the relationships among overall job satisfaction, satisfaction with groups of job facets, and the individual characteristics of the respondents,

A review of the literature revealed that much of the research in job satisfaction focused on workers from industrial, business, and educational (elementary and secondary) environments. Aside from some research activity in the study of job satisfaction with personnel from postsecondary institutions, there was revealed to be a notable lack of relevant research with adult educators. Given the phenomenal growth of adult education as a field of practice and the general paucity of research in the field, it was deemed relevant and appropriate to study the further education coordinators.

Instrumentation

The questionnaire, Sources of Job Satisfaction for Further Education Coordinators, was used for the collection of data and was developed with adaptations to instrumentation employed in previous research by Holdaway (1978) and Rice (1978). They respectively examined the job satisfaction of school teachers and school principals in Alberta. The following briefly describes the format of the questionnaire.

Section A sought demographic data relevant to the personal-social, professional, and organizational characteristics of the coordinators: sex, age, other employment, population of community, location by region, coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organization, primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as coordinator, salary level, and type of designated local hosting authority.

Section B sought to determine the level of overall job satisfaction experienced by the coordinators through the rating of four items.

Sections C, D, E, and F were designed to elicit ratings of satisfaction and importance to the 32 job facet items which were considered to be characteristic of the coordinators' position.

Section G sought the respondents' own view with respect to the aspects of the job judged as contributing to overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction.

Research Methodology

The questionnaire was pilot tested with a group of further education coordinators and reviewed by graduate students in educational administration as well as a former manager with Alberta Advanced Education and Manpower. The instrument, with appropriate revisions, was mailed to 74 coordinators in the province with stamped and self-addressed return envelopes. The names and addresses of the coordinators were obtained from Further Education Services, Alberta Advanced Education and Manpower. Sixty-five returns were received with one unuseable, representing a useable return rate of 86.49 percent.

Data Analysis

Appropriate statistical tests were required to determine the level of satisfaction and the differences between groups based on the demographic variables on the satisfaction ratings. Statistical procedures were used to determine frequency and percentage distributions of responses, mean scores, standard deviations, analysis of variance,

and probability. Analysis of variance was employed to indicate significant differences in the mean levels between groups. The Scheffe multiple comparison of means analysis was used to identify the groups with significantly different mean levels and employed where the previously determined F value indicated significance at the .05 level of probability. Factor analysis was used to determine common themes in the responses to the job facet items. The multiple regression analysis was employed to identify which predictor variable would provide the best prediction of the criterion variable, overall job satisfaction.

Review of Findings

The findings from each of the five problems investigated in the study are summarized in the following section.

Problem 1: Overall Job Satisfaction

Sub-Problem 1.1. To what extent do further education coordinators experience overall job satisfaction?

Four items were employed to measure the overall job satisfaction of the respondents. The percentage of respondents who indicated satisfaction with the four items ranged from 89.6 percent to 97.1 percent. The obtained mean scores associated with each of the items indicated that the respondents were moderately satisfied with the job in all its aspects. The overall rating was determined in relationship with the response categories associated with the four items.

Sub-Problem 1.2. Which job aspects are selected by coordinators as contributing the most as sources of overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction?

Section G of the questionnaire provided the opportunity for respondents to personally identify aspects of the job that contributed to overall job satisfaction and dissatisfaction.

The respondents identified 17 job aspects as contributing to overall satisfaction, however, three of these job aspects were found to represent over 61 percent of the total number of responses. The three most frequently mentioned job aspects contributing to overall satisfaction were: freedom associated with the job (24.24 percent of responses), contact with people (18.94 percent of responses), and sense of involvement and contribution (18.18 percent of responses).

Twenty job aspects were identified as contributing to overall job dissatisfaction. The four most commonly identified job aspects contributing to overall dissatisfaction were as follows: inadequate salary (15.18 percent of responses), lack of council support (12.50 percent of responses), problems in the administration of finances (12.50 percent of responses), and effect of job on personal and family life (8.93 percent of responses).

Sub-Problem 1.3. To what extent are the findings for overall satisfaction and dissatisfaction with the job aspects consistent with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction developed by Hertzberg, Mausner, and Synderman (1959)?

To facilitate the comparison of the study results with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction, the open-response answers were regrouped as motivator and hygiene variables. It was revealed that the job aspects as motivator variables contributed more to overall job satisfaction than dissatisfaction, and as hygiene variables contributed more to overall job dissatisfaction than satisfaction. The results were found to be generally consistent with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction as developed by Hertzberg and associates (1959).

It was also observed that in terms of the motivator and hygiene variables, the respondents experienced most satisfaction with the recognition and responsibilities associated with the job. Dissatisfaction was most related to policies and administrative practices, salary, and interpersonal relations.

Problem 2: Facet Satisfaction and Importance

Sub-Problem 2.1. Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as contributing most to the feeling of job satisfaction?

Over 90 percent of the respondents reported satisfaction with eight facet items. The four items with which the respondents indicated the most satisfaction were associated with the council. Ranked according to the mean scores obtained, the respondents were most satisfied with: the freedom to seek out new ideas and introduce them to the council, the relationship with members of the council, the willingness of the council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations, and the involvement in council decision-making.

Sub-Problem 2.2. Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as contributing most to the feeling of job dissatisfaction?

Over 20 percent of the respondents indicated dissatisfaction on ten items. Ranked according to the mean scores, the four items that were associated with the greatest dissatisfaction were: the way salary is determined, the access to clerical personnel for assistance, the salary received, and the level of resource allocations.

Sub-Problem 2.3. Which job facets are identified by the coordinators as being most important to the feeling of job satisfaction?

In relation to the response categories employed in the study,

12 job facet items were indicated to be "Very Important" to job

satisfaction. The four job facets reported as most important to job

satisfaction were: the relationship with members of the council, the

freedom to seek out new ideas and introduce them to the council, the

willingness of the council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations,

and the sense of accomplishment.

Problem 3: Overall Job Satisfaction and Coordinator Characteristics

Sub-Problem 3.1. To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the personal-social characteristics: sex, age, other employment, population of community, location by region?

There were no significant differences on overall ich satisfaction

determined by the analysis of variance between groups categorized on the basis of the personal-social characteristics of the coordinators.

Sub-Problem 3.2. To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the professional characteristics: coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organizations?

No significant differences on overall job satisfaction were indicated between groups of respondents classified according to the professional characteristics.

Sub-Problem 3.3. To what extent are differences in the level of overall job satisfaction between sub-groups of respondents associated with the organizational characteristics: primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as a coordinator, salary level, type of designated local hosting authority?

One variable, type of designated local hosting authority, was found to have significant differences between groups on overall job satisfaction. It was revealed that respondents from councils with postsecondary institutions as designated local hosting authorities experienced significantly greater overall job satisfaction than respondents from councils with school authorities as designated local hosting authorities.

Problem 4: Satisfaction and Job Factors

Sub-Problem 4.1. Which job factors contribute to coordinators' overall job satisfaction?

The factor analysis procedure applied to the 32 job facet items resulted in a seven factor solution which accounted for 67.7 percent of the total variance in overall job satisfaction. The seven factors were identified as: Liaison with Council, Liaison with Further Education Services, Working Conditions, Recognition, Coordinator-Community Work Involvement, Work Demands, and Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority.

Sub-Problem 4.2. Which job factors are the best predictors of overall job satisfaction?

The stepwise multiple regression analysis revealed that the factor Coordinator-Community Work Involvement provided the best prediction of the criterion variable, overall job satisfaction. However, it was associated with only 3.11 percent of the variance in overall job satisfaction. The analysis further indicated that the seven predictor variables accounted for only 5.86 percent of the variance, and that none of the factors were significant predictor variables of overall job satisfaction.

Problem 5: Satisfaction Factors and Coordinator Characteristics

Sub-Problem 5.1. To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with

the personal goodal characteristics: sex, age, other employment, Doulation of companity, location by region?

No significant differences on satisfaction with the job factors were indicated between groups of respondents categorized on the basis of the personal actial characteristics.

Sub-Problem 5.2. To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the professional characteristics: coordinator experience, administrative experience, level of schooling, attendance at professional development/ continuing education activities, membership and participation in community organiations?

With war to the professional characteristics, significant differences were indicated between groups on satisfaction with three job factors. Replandents with one year or less of administrative experience in participal settings were more satisfied with Working Conditions than was respondents with five to seven years of administrative experience. The group of respondents with membership and participation in four to six community organizations was found to be significantly man satisfied than their colleagues in one or both of the other groups on war bemands and biaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority. The group with membership in four to six organizations was more satisfied with Work Demands than the group with membership in seven or more organizations. With an associated probability of .02, it was revealed that the group with membership in four to six organizations

was significantly more satisfied with Liaison with Designated Local Hosting Authority than the other groups of respondents with membership in one to three and seven or more community organizations.

Sub-Problem 5.3. To what extent are differences in the level of satisfaction felt by coordinators towards job factors associated with the organizational characteristics: primary area of involvement, hours per week employed as a coordinator, salary level, type of designated local hosting authority?

There were no significant differences between groups classified according to the organizational characteristics on satisfaction with the job factors.

CONCLUSIONS

Relevance of the Study Findings to the Literature on Satisfaction

A discussion of the study findings with reference to the literature on job satisfaction reviewed in Chapter II is provided in the following section.

Overall Satisfaction

The responses to the four items designed to measure the overall job satisfaction of the respondents generally indicated moderate satisfaction with the job in all its aspects. An examination of the mean scores associated with the items on the social relationships (lower order needs) and the use of abilities (higher order needs)

indicated that greater satisfaction and needs fulfillment were derived from the lower order needs. This supports Maslow's (1970) contentions with respect to the prepatency of the lower order needs in the needs hierarchy. However, this may also suggest that the job is less fulfilling in terms of the higher order needs.

The study findings on the free-response answers, to a large extent, were consistent with the dual-factor theory of satisfaction developed by Hertzberg et al. (1959). The following are comments with respect to this relationship.

- (1) The responses regrouped as motivator variables generally contributed to overall job satisfaction and the responses regrouped as hygiene variables contributed to job dissatisfaction.
- (2) Most satisfaction was gained from the recognition and responsibility aspects of the job. At the same time, no responses could be placed with Hertzberg's advancement motivator variable. This may be due to the nature of the position and the assumption that advancement is not possible under any circumstances. Some discrepancy was noted with the variable on work itself will as to a degree, indicated to be a source of dissatisfaction.
- (3) Overall dissatisfaction was must related to the policies and administrative practices. salary matters, and interpersonal relations. Responses could not be categorical under the status and job security variables, presumably due to the part-time nature of the position.
- (4) The content of the job was revealed as a major source of satisfaction and the context of the job as a source of dissatisfaction.

 The independence of the job characteristics in relation to job satisfaction and dissatisfaction was supported by Friedlander (1964).

Similarly, the study findings would appear to refute the conclusion brought forward by Ewen (1964) and Burke (1966) that the motivator/hygiene dichotomy does not exist.

Facet Satisfaction and Importance

A wide variation in the satisfaction with the 32 job facet items was indicated, even though the respondents reported to be moderately satisfied with the job in all its aspects. Over 90 percent of the respondents indicated satisfaction on eight items but, at the same time, 20 percent of the respondents reported dissatisfaction on 10 items.

In relationship with the motivator/hygiene variables, of the eight items with which satisfaction was most associated two were judged hygiene variables. They were the relationship with members of the council and physical working conditions. With respect to the 10 items most associated with dissatisfaction, two items were considered as motivator variables. The recognition given the coordinator by other professions and the access to program facilities were viewed by the respondents as dissatisfiers.

Of the 12 job facets the respondents indicated to be most important to job satisfaction, eight were identified as related to the content of the job. It is perhaps notable that the same three facet items which were associated with the most satisfaction were also rated as most important to job satisfaction. Though some may suggest that importance is in lied in the rating of satisfaction, Lawler (1973:77) asserted that "a strong argument can be made for weighting the scores according to their importance".

Factor Satisfaction

A factor analysis of the 32 job facet items resulted in a seven factor solution to the understanding of coordinator satisfaction.

The factors identified the interaction of the coordinators with the community, the council, Further Education Services, and the designated local hosting authority. In addition, they addressed the working conditions, the recognition associated with the position, and the nature of the work that is performed. Of the seven factors, six were judged to be related to job content and one to the context of the job.

Satisfaction and Coordinator Characteristics

Sex. Male respondents reported slightly more overall job satisfaction than the females in this study, but the differences were not significant. Though the findings are supportive of Hulin and Smith's (1964) assertion that women experience less job satisfaction than men, the relatively small number of male respondents in this study must be taken into consideration. With regards to a statement made by Centers and Bugental (1966) that women expressed greater satisfaction than men on relationships with co-workers, the study findings revealed that female respondents were more satisfied with the relationships with members of the council than were the males, however the differences were not significant.

Age. The study reported a nonlinear relationship between age and satisfaction. The oldest group was more satisfied than the middle-aged group but the youngest group was more satisfied than the middle-aged group. The differences, however, were not significant.

The study findings did not support the views of Porter and Steers (1973) who implied a positive relationship between age and satisfaction.

Other employment. Respondents with other employment experienced more overall job satisfaction than respondents who did not, however the differences were not significant.

Population of community. Respondents from larger communities (10,001 or greater) experienced greater overall job satisfaction than did respondents from smaller communities. This may be associated with the accessibility to cultural and recreational facilities. The related item loaded with the factor Work Demands, to which respondents from the larger communities expressed greater satisfaction. However, these differences were not significant.

Location by region. This variable was not associated with any significant differences on the satisfaction of coordinators. There appeared to be little variation in levels of satisfaction with respect to location by region.

Coordinator experience. There was no significant relationship drawn between satisfaction and the years of coordinator experience. The finding that coordinators with a year or less of experience were equally as satisfied as the other groups, did not support Solmon and Tierney's (1977) predictions that greater satisfaction would result from increasing years of service. It was also observed that well over a third of the respondents had been in the position for a year or less,

indicating a substantial turnover rate.

Administrative experience. Respondents with a year or less of administrative experience in educational settings were more satisfied with Working Conditions than were the other groups. This may be due to the less experienced having fewer expectations particularly with respect to salary matters and consequently experiencing greater satisfaction with this aspect of the job. However, there was a general trend for overall job satisfaction to increase with incremental increases in administrative experience, though these differences were not significant.

Level of schooling. There were no significant differences between groups evident for any of the aspects of the job on this variable. Although the differences in levels of satisfaction were not significant, the group of respondents with some or complete high school experienced greater overall job satisfaction than did the other groups.

Number of professional development/continuing education activities attended. No significant differences were indicated between groups of respondents on everall satisfaction or satisfaction with aspects of the job on this variable. However, overall satisfaction was noted to generally increase with the greater number of activities attended.

Number of community organizations. Differences between groups on this variable were indicated for two aspects of the job. Respondents who were involved with seven or more community organizations were less

satisfied with Work Demands than the other groups of respondents with fewer commitments. The degree of involvement with community organizations at this level may be in conflict with the responsibilities and the variety of task expectations associated with the position, leading to reduced satisfaction to this aspect of the job. On those activities involving interaction with the designated local hosting, authority, the same group of respondents committed to seven or more organizations was less satisfied than the other less involved groups. Given their assigned responsibilities, designated local hosting authorities are significantly involved in the determination of the working conditions and of the access to clerical personnel to provide assistance. As such, they are viewed as greatly influencing the degree of involvement with and the number of memberships held in community organizations. At the other extreme, the group of respondents with membership and participation in a relatively small number of community organizations was less satisfied with the activities associated with the designated local hosting authority than was the group with a middle range of organizational commitments. Community participation is an essential element of the position and the degree to which it is attained, as seen by the designated local hosting authority, may be measured by the number of commitments to community organizations. Reduced satisfaction on those activities associated with the hosting authority may be attributable to the hosting authorities assessment of the coordinators' relationship with the community through the commitments to community organizations.

Primary area of involvement. There were no significant

differences indicated between groups of respondents on overall satisfaction or satisfaction with aspects of the job on the time devoted to
the administrative and leadership task requirements. It was observed
that less than 30 percent of the respondents worked 11 or more hours
per week on administrative activities but that almost 60 percent of the
respondents devoted 11 or more hours per week to the leadership tasks.

Hours per week as coordinator. This variable was not associated with any significant differences between groups of respondents on overall satisfaction or satisfaction with aspects of the job.

Annual salary. Significant differences between groups of respondents were not evident on overall satisfaction or satisfaction with the job factors with respect to annual salary. It was revealed, however, that the respondents reported salary matters as highly dissatisfying facets of the job. In this regard, the concerns of the respondents with respect to the range of pay and pay negotiations were supportive of the views of Opsahl and Dunnette (1974) who concluded that these matters contributed to negative job attitudes.

Type of designated local hosting authority. The group of respondents associated with postsecondary institutions as hosting authorities experienced more overall job satisfaction than did the group with school authorities as hosting authorities. It should be taken into consideration, however, that the number of respondents connected with postsecondary institutions was relatively small. The significance may be associated with the postsecondary institutions' understood role and

mandate in regards to the provision of adult education, relative to the role of school authorities in primary and secondary education. Given these relationships, the postsecondary institution may be more supportive of the adult education endeavors of the coordinator.

IMPLICATIONS

Implications for Administration

In view of the study findings, the following implications and recommendations are pertinent to administrators at local and provincial levels who liaise closely with the coordinators. It may be useful to reemphasize that the job satisfaction of the coordinators was most associated with the confent of the job, and job dissatisfaction with the context of the job. The following statements are intended to address areas of reported dissatisfaction and the areas of the job where satisfaction may be enhanced.

- (1) Attempts should be made to reduce the dissatisfaction with salary matters. Though the salary received was revealed as a major area of concern, there was considerable dissatisfaction with the process of salary negotiations. Further Education Services ought to consider the initiation of formal mechanisms to maximize the input and participation of the coordinators in salary discussions.
- (2) Greater participation by the coordinators in the review of the administrative policies and procedures should be considered. The examination should focus on the questions of budgetary flexibility and the administrative procedures required in the allocation of resources. The process may not facilitate change much as foster better

understanding and commitment to the administrative requirements.

- (3) A clarification of the respective roles of the further education coordinator and further education council in the delivery of community programming should be undertaken. Concerns were expressed that member agencies of the council were not assuming their programming responsibilities and expected the coordinator to initiate programs on their behalf. Closer liaison and interaction with member agencies of the council should be considered with respect to this issue.
- (4) The role of the coordinator should be defined with more precision. The tasks, goals, and objectives should be clearly articulated particularly as they relate to the council, the designated local hosting authority, Further Education Services, and the community they serve. It is believed that the clarification of the coordinators' role would also serve to reduce reported dissatisfaction with: the impact of the job on the coordinators' personal and family life, the amount of time spent on operational activities as course registration, and community attitudes with respect to program implementation and policies.
- (5) The respective roles of the further education council and the designated local hosting authority should also be examined in their responsibilities for the provision and administration of adult education. The study findings revealed that council-related matters were most important to coordinator satisfaction, yet the open-response answers indicated that the lack of council support was an area of substantial dissatisfaction.
 - (6) The provision for clerical assistance should be examined.

 This recommendation must be considered in its attempts to enhance the satisfaction of the coordinators through allowing them more time to do

what is most satisfying to them. Coordinators experience most job satisfaction with the recognition and the responsibilities; associated with the provision of adult education services to the community.

- (7) Attempts should be made to increase budget allocations for the administrative and program grant support areas to more adequately serve community adult education needs.
- (8) Opportunities for professional development/inservice education/
 orientation activities for coordinators should be expanded. Ongoing
 liaison with the coordinators in regards to the identification of needs
 for these activities should be established.
- (9) Given significant differences in satisfaction levels, there should be further examination of:
 - (a) the reason that postsecondary institutions facilitated greater overall job satisfaction than did school authorities in their roles as designated local hosting authorities.
 - (b) the reason that coordinators with high levels of involvement with community organizations (7 or more) were less satisfied with the nature of the work and interactions with designated local hosting authorities. A better understanding should also be sought in regards to the dissatisfaction experienced by coordinators who had low levels of organizational commitments with those activities associated with designated hosting authorities.
 - (c) the reason that coordinators with greater administrative experience in educational settings were less satisfied with the working conditions.
- (10) The provision of additional responsibilities in the leadership

tasks associated with the job would enhance job satisfaction and fulfill the satisfaction of the higher order needs.

Implications for Further Research

- (1) This study examined a very specific population of adult educators in the growing field of adult education. A similar study could be considered to examine the satisfaction of other groups in community/ adult education to facilitate comparison.
 - (2) Further research initiatives might focus on:
 - (a) the reasons for and the consequences of coordinator satisfaction and dissatisfaction.
 - (b) the relationship of job attitudes to coordinator effectiveness in the performance of the job.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Alberta Advanced Education and Manpower

1981 Further Education, Policy Guidelines Procedures. Edmonton, Alberta: Department of Advanced Education and Manpower.

Armann, Donna M.

An Analysis of Factors Affecting Job Satisfaction for Directors of Nursing in Western Canada. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Department of Educational Administration, University of Alberta.

Burke, Ronald J.

1966 "Are Hertzberg's Motivators and Hygienes Unidimensional?" Journal of Applied Psychology, 50:4, 317-321.

Byrne, T.C.

1981 Towards System in Continuing Education. A Report Prepared for the Alberta Association of Continuing Education, Edmonton.

Campbell, Duncan D.

Adult Education as a Field of Study and Practice. Vancouver: The Centre for Continuing Education, University of British Columbia.

Campbell, Duncan D.

"On Sailing - With or Against the Wind." In H.A. Jones (ed.).

Studies In Adult Education. Leicester, England:
The National Institute of Adult Education, 12, 13-28.

Centers, Richard and Daphne D. Bugental

"Intrinsic and Extrinsic Job Motivations Among Different Segments of the Working Population." Journal of Applied Psychology, 50:3, 193-197.

Charters, Alexander N.

1978 Resources for Educators of Adults, Professional Development of Educators of Adults. Eric Document, FD166361.

Charters, Alexander N. and Ronald J. Hilton

1978 Who We Are: What Some Educators of Adults Say About Their Characteristics, Competencies, and Roles.

Eric Document, ED162077.

Clay, Rex J.

1977 A Validation Study of Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory. Eric Document, FD150416.

- Erickson, Bonnie H. and T.A. Nosanchuk 1977 Understanding Data. Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson Ltd.
- Ewen, Robert B.

 1964 "Some Determinants of Job Satisfaction: A Study of the Generality of Hertzberg's Theory." Journal of Applied Psychology, 48:3, 161-163.
- Ewen, Robert B., Charles Hulin, Patricia Cain Smith, and Edwin A. Locke 1966 "An Empirical Test of the Hertzberg Two-Factor Theory." Journal of Applied Psychology, 50:6, 544-550.
- Friedlander, Frank
 1964 "Job Characteristics as Satisfiers and Dissatisfiers."
 Journal of Applied Psychology, 48:6, 388-392.
- Hertzberg, Frederick, Bernard Mausner, and Barbara Bloch Snyderman 1959 The Motivation To Work. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- Hertzberg, Frederick

 1966g Work and the Nature of Man. Cleveland: The World Publishing
 Company.
- Hertzberg, Frederick 1968 "One More Time: How Do You Motivate Employees?" Harvard Business Review, 46:1, 53-62.
- Woldaway, Edward A.
 1978 Monograph: Satisfaction of Teachers in Alberta with their
 Work and Working Conditions. Edmonton: Department of
 Fducational Administration, University of Alberta.
- House, Robert J. and Lawrence A. Wigdor
 1967 "Hertzberg's Dual Factor Theory of Job Satisfaction and
 Motivation: A Review of the Evidence and a Criticism."
 Personnel Psychology, 20, 369-389.
- Hulin, Charles L.

 1966 "Job Satisfaction and Turnover in a Female Clerical Population."

 Journal of Applied Psychology, 50:4, 280-285.
- Hulin, Charles L. and Patricia Cain Smith
 1964 "Sex Differences in Job Satisfaction." Journal of Applied
 Psychology, 48:2, 88-92.
- Konrad, Abram G., Darlene Elliott, Joanne McNeal, and Fred Sonoda
 1982 Professional Development of Further Education Coordinators in
 Alberta. A study prepared for Alberta Advanced Education and
 Manpower. Edmonton: Centre for the Study of Postsecondary
 Education, University of Alberta.

چە

Lawler, Edward E. III

"Job Attitudes and Employee Motivation: Theory, Research, and Practice." Personnel Psychology, 23:2, 223-237.

lowler, Fdward E. III

Motivation in Work Organizations. Monterey, California: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.

Locke, Edwin A.

1969 "What is Job Satisfaction?" Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 4, 309-336.

Maslow, Abraham H.

Motivation and Personality. New York: Harper and Row.

Moser, C.A.

Survey Methods in Social Investigation. London, England: William Heinemann Ltd

Mouly, George J.

1978 Educational Research, The Art and Science of Investigation.
Boston: Allyn and Bacon, Inc.

Mumford. Enid

Job Satisfaction, A Study of Computer Specialists. London, Fingland: Longman Group Limited.

Onuoha, Alphonso R.A.

Job Satisfaction of Educators in Rehabilitation Medicine in Canada. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Department of Educational Administration, University of Alberta.

Opsahl, Robert L. and Marvin D. Dunnette (1966)

"The Role of Financial Compensation in Industrial Motivation."
In Victor H. Vroom and Edward L. Deci (eds.),

Management and Motivation. Harmondsworth, Middlesex:

Penguin Books Inc., 127-159

Paine, Frank T., Stephen J. Carpoll Jr., and Burt A. Leete
1966 "Need Satisfaction of Managerial Level Personnel in a
Government Agency Journal of Applied Psychology. 50:3,
247-249.

Popham, James W. and Kenneth Allipotnik

1973 Educational Statistics, Use and Interpretation. New York:
Harper and Row, Publishers.

Porter, Lyman W.

1961 "A Study of Perceived Need Satisfactions in Bottom and Middle Management Jobs." Journal of Applied Psychology, 45:1, 1-10.

Porter, Lyman W. and Edward E. Lawler III:

1968 Managerial Attitudes and Performance. Homewood; Illinois:
Richard D. Irwin, Inc. and The Dorsey-Press.

Porter, Lyman W. and Richard Steers
1973 "Organizational, Work, and Personal Factors in Employee
Turnover and Absenteeism." Psychological Bulletin, 80:2,
151-176.

Rice, Alan W.
1978 Individual and Work Variables Associated with Principal Job
Satisfaction. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation,
Department of Educational Administration, University of
Alberta.

Schmidt, Gene L.
1976 "Job Satisfaction among Secondary School Administrators."
Educational Administration Quarterly, 12:2, 68-86.

Schneider, Benjamin and Clayton P. Alderfer
1973 "Three Studies of Measures of Need Satisfaction in
Organizations." Administrative Science Quarterly, 18:4,
_489-504.

Smith, Patricia C., Lorne M. Kendall, and Charles L. Hulin
1969 The Measurement of Satisfaction in Work and Retirement:
A Strategy for the Study of Attitudes. Chicago:
Rand McNally and Company.

Solomon, Lewis C. and Michael L. Tierney
1977 "Determinants of Job Satisfaction among College
Administrators." Journal of Higher Education, 48:4, 412-431.

Statistics Canada, Federal Statistical Activities Secretariat 1979 Basic Questionnaire Design. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Vroom, Victor H.

1964 Work and Motivation. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Waters, L.K. and Darrell Roach
1971 "Relationship between Job Attitudes and Two Forms of
Withdrawal from the Work Situation." Journal of Applied
Psychology, 55:1, 92-94.

Wiltshire, H.C.

1980 "On Being an Adult Educator." In H.A. Jones (ed.),

Studies in Adult Education. Leicester, England: The National
Institute of Adult Education, 12, 1-12.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

QUESTIONNAIRE

QUESTIONNAIRE

SOURCES OF JOB SATISFACTION

FOR FURTHER EDUCATION COORDINATORS

Please answer all questions by circling the number on the right of the most appropriate response or by providing a written answer where required.

SECTION A: PERSONAL DATA ch of the following best describes the population of community in which your council is located? (,000 or less					0⊈1 Use
community in which your council is located? (,000 or less		SECTION A: PERSON	AL DATA		USE
community in which your council is located? (,000 or less					
0,001 - 10,000 0,001 - 15,000 5,001 - 20,000 0,001 or more which region of the province (as designated for Further cation Regional Meetings) is your council located? orthwest ortheast ellowhead entral outh many hours per week of your employment time as a redinator are spent on administrative activities bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 umns. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	sh of the followi community in whi	ng best describes to the ch your council is	he population of located?		CÇ
My hours per week of your employment time as a rdinator are spent on administrative activities. bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 mms. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	000, - 10,000	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	2	14
cation Regional Meetings) is your council located? orthwest ortheast ellowhead entral outh many hours per week of your employment time as a rdinator are spent on administrative activities bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 lumns. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	.001 - 20.000 .		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	745	_ ;
cation Regional Meetings) is your council located? orthwest ortheast ellowhead entral outh many hours per week of your employment time as a rdinator are spent on administrative activities bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 lumns. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	•	•	•		
ortheast ellowhead entral outh many hours per week of your employment time as a redinator are spent on administrative activities. bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 lumns. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	hich region of t ation Regional M	he province (as des eetings) is your co	ignatèd for Furth incil locatéd?	er	
many hours per week of your employment time as a rdinator are spent on administrative activities. bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 umns. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	ortheast	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *			5.
rdinator are spent on administrative activities. bookkeeping, processing of F.E.P.S. grant forms) and dership activities (ie. planning, coordination, needs ntification)? Please check one () in each of the 2 mms. Administration Leadership 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20				5	
2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	ership activities tification)? Plant	s (ie. planning, cod	ordination, needs	i	
3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	ership activities tification)? Plant	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	
4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	ership activitie tification)? Plomns.	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6.
5. 16 to 20	ership activities tification)? Plants.	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6,
	ership activities tification)? Plants. 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6,
6. 21 or more	ership activities tification)? Plants. 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6,
	ership activities tification)? Plants. 1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6,
	1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6,
ch of the following best describes the total number of	1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20	s (ie. planning, coo ease check one ()	ordination, needs in each of the 2	i	6,
rs per week that you are paid as a coordinator?	1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20 6. 21 or more	Administration Administration	Leadership a total number of		6,
to 10 2	1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20 6. 21 or more h of the following per week that y	Administration Administration ag best describes the you are paid as a co	Leadership e total number of ordinator?		6,
\$0 15 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1. Nil 2. 1 to 5 3. 6 to 10 4. 11 to 15 5. 16 to 20 6. 21 or more h of the following per week that years	Administration Administration ag best describes the rou are paid as a co	Leadership total number of ordinator?		6,

Coding to determine returns only.
To be destroyed to ensure anonymity.

5.	Which of the following best describes your present annual salary as a coordinator?		
	\$5,000 or less \$5,001 to \$10,000 \$10,001 to \$15,000 \$15,001 to \$20,000 \$20,001 or more	1 2 3 4 5	9
6.	Do you have a paid job other than that of further education coordinator at the present time?	. :	
	Yes No	1 v. 2 **	10
7.	Which of the following best describes the designated local hosting authority of your council?		
. •	A school authority A postsecondary institution Other (specify)	1 2 3	11
8.	How many years of experience do you have as a coordinate	or?	
	1 or less 2 - 3 4 - 5 6 or more	1 2 3 4	12
9.	How many years of administrative experience do you have an educational setting?	in	
•	1 or less 2 - 4 5 - 7 8 - 10 11 or more	1 2 3 4 5	13
10.	Which of the following best describes your highest level of schooling?		
	Some high school High school completed Technical/vocational training Some university or college University degree Graduate (Masters/Doctorate) degree	123456	14
11.	Your sex is:		
•	Female	1 2	15
12.	Your age is:		
• •	25 or less 26 - 35 36 - 45 46 - 55 56 or greater	1 2 3 4 5	16

13	a i	ow many professional development/contictivities (ie. personal growth, career aservice) have you attended within the	núi ad pa	ng var st	od: Je:	uca mer ar !	ti t,	on	٠.			
		0	• • •	• • •	•	• • •	• •	•.•		1 2 3 4 5	1	7
14.	se co an	how many organizations do you belong urs or more per month of your time? (rvice clubs, labor unions, church or ammunity associations, professional ass d athletic groups, political groups, s	yn:	. 1 kgo	gue ode	es ,						•
		0	• • •	• •	•••	• • •	• • •	•	12345	?	16	, س
			_							_	j	
•	SEC	CTION B: OVERALL SATISFACTION					2				01	ficial only
		COLE the selected number.	Highly satisfied	Moderately satisfied	Slightly satisfied	Slightly dissatisfied	Moderately dissatisfied	Highly dissatisfied			С	•
	To the	what extent are you satisfied with following?										
	1.	The effectiveness of your council in meeting the adult education needs in your community (compared with other councils known to you).	6	5	4	3.	2	1	0		19	
	2.	Social relationships in your work.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		20	
٠	3.	The chance to do something that makes use of your abilities.	6	5	4		2	1	0		21	
	4.	Your overall satisfaction with your job.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		22	
								1	ليب			

SE	CTION C: RKING CONDITIONS		S	t1	sî.	ct:	lon	1			In	po:	rte	nc	•			
ra it ra it	te your degree of satis- ction with each of the ems on the first scale and te the importance of each em to your job on the cond scale.	Highly satisfied	Moderately satisfied	tisfied	ਚ	Moderately dissatisfied	Highly dissatisfied	No opinion		Extremely important	Very Important	Moderately important	15	Not important	No opinion	Ūsė	cial Only	
	The salary you receive.	6	5.	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	23,	24	
2.	The way in which your salary is determined.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	٦,	0	25,	26	
3.	The number of hours you are expected to work.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	27,	28	
4.	Your feeling of job security.	6	5	4	3	2	1 (0		5	4	3	2	1	0	29,	30	
5.	The portion of your time devoted to operational duties. (ie. clerical, bookkeeping)	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5		3 -	2	1	0	31,		
6.	Your physical working conditions.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	33, :	34	
7.	The way in which consultation between the designated hosting authority and yourself concerning working								,			•3						
	conditions is conducted.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	35, 3	36	
SEC	TION D: NCIL-RELATED MATTERS												,				•	
8.	Your freedom to seek out new ideas and introduce them to your council.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	37 . 3	3 8	•
9.	Willingness of the council to accept coordinator-initiated innovations.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	39, 4	LO	

			8	a ti	sf:	act	101	1			. In	pο	rtı	ınc	•	•
CIRC	<u>LE</u> the selected numbers.	Highly satisfied	1.5		1 -		Highly dissatisfied	No opinion		Extremely important	Very Important	Moderately important	Slightly important	Not important	No opinion	
10.	Responsibility asso- ciated with the coordin- ator's position.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	41, 42
11.	Your involvement in decision-making in your council.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	ό	43, 44
12.	Your relationship with the members of your council.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	115, 146
13.	Your access to program facilities and equipment.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	47, 4 8
14.	Your authority over budget preparation.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	49, 50
15.	Your accountability for success of further education programs.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	·	5	4	3	2	N.	2	51, 52
16.	Your access to clerical personnel to assist you.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	53, 54
17.	Council expectations of you as a coordinator.	6	5	4	3	2	,	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	55, 56
18.	Your evaluation by the designated local hosting authority.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	57, 58

`		ſ	,	Sa	tis	fa	c t	lon				I	πpo	rte	nc	• '	
PR	ECTION E: UNTHER EDUCATION SERVICES ELATED MATTERS IRCLE the selected numbers		₩		Silghtly satisfied	winghtly dissatisfied	moueracely dissatisfied		No opinion		Extremely (meanth)	Very important		Slightly important	Not 1mportant	No opinion	1 '
19.	Your relationships with Further Education Services.	1	3	5 1	+			1		-8	5	4	3	2	1	ن و	59, 60
20.	professional develop- ment and inservice education.	6	,	5 4	. 3	2		1 0		q	5	4	3	. 5	1	0	.
21.	allocations. (ie. program and administrative grant support)	6	5	5 4	. 3	2			,		5	4	3	2	1	0	
22.	The availability of useful advice to assist you with problems you encounter.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			5	4	3	2	1	0	65 , 66
23.	The way policies of Further Education Services are put into practice.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0			5	4	3	2	1.	0	67, 68
SEC OCC	CTION F: CUPATION-RELATED MATTERS							-		à							2
,Sft•	Your experience with the attitudes of the people in your community towards adult education.	6	5	4	3	2.	1	0			5	4	3	2	1		С С 4. 5
25.	Your sense of accomplishment as an administrator.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0				4	.	2 1			6, 7
				لـــا	Ш			<u> </u>	l	L	\bot	\perp		\perp	丄		

			3.	ti	af e	ıct	ion	l .			In	mo:	rtı	me	•	•
CIF	CCLE the selected numbers.	Highly satisfied	Moderately satisfied		1	Moderately dissatisfied		No opinion	•	Extremely important	Very important	Moderately Important	Slightly important	Not important	No opinion	
26.	Recognition by others of your work.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	8, 9
27.	Your social position in the community.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	o	10, 11
28.	The amount of recognition given the coordinator by members of other professions.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	12, 13
29.	The variety of tasks you work on as part of your regular duties.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	14, 15
30.	The authority associated with the coordinator's position.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0	·	5	4	3	2		0	16, 17
31.	The effect of the job on your personal or family life.	6	5	4	3	2	1	0		5	4	3	2	1	0	18, 19
32.	The availability of facilities in your community for recreation, fine arts, etc. (for yourself, not for programming)	6	5	4	3	2	1	٥		5	4	3	2	1	0	[°] 20 , 21

sfaction	actors contribute most to your overall on with your position as coordinator?	CC
•		
		22,
	g .	
		_
•		24,
<u> </u>		_ 24,
u		_
		_
		i
		_
tisfic	actors contribute most to your overall tion with your position as coordinator?	
tisfic	actors contribute most to your overall	26,
tisfic	actors contribute most to your overall	26,
tisfic	actors contribute most to your overall	26,
tisfic	actors contribute most to your <u>overall</u> tion with your position as coordinator?	26,
	actors contribute most to your overall tion with your position as coordinator?	-
atisfic-	actors contribute most to your <u>overall</u> tion with your position as coordinator?	26,

THANK YOU FOR YOUR COOPERATION Kindly return immediately after completion.

APPENDIX B LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL

ME!



THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA EDMONTON, CANADA T6G 2GB

November 8, 1982

Please find enclosed a questionnaire designed to determine possible sources of job satisfaction and/or dissatisfaction for Further Education Coordinators. It is hoped that the findings of this study will enhance the awareness and understanding of those factors which may influence the job satisfaction of coordinators.

This study, with the approval of Further Education Services, Department of Advanced Education and Manpower, is being conducted as partial requirement for my Masters of Education in Educational Administration. Although there are many demands of your time, I am asking that you spend about 30 minutes to complete the enclosed questionnaire.

The data will be grouped to ensure anonymity and confidentiality. The numbering code is being used solely for the purpose of recording questionnaire returns thereby reducing the prohibitive costs of sending follow-up letters to all coordinators. I can assure you that the list will be destroyed when the questionnaires are returned in order to protect the anonymity of individual respondents.

I would appreciate receiving your completed questionnaire in the enclosed addressed and postage paid envelope by Nov. 29, 1982.

Thank you for your assistance and cooperation.

Yours sincerely,

F.T. Sonoda Department of Educational Administration University of Alberta FACULTY OF EDUCATION

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL

ADMINISTRATION



THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA EDMONTON, CANADA T6G 2GB

November 29, 1982

Several weeks ago a questionnaire, Sources of Job Satisfaction for Further Education Coordinators, was mailed to you. While I am pleased with the initial response, it is important to the study that as many coordinators as possible complete and return the questionnaire. It would be greatly appreciated if you could arrange about 30 minutes of your busy schedule to complete the questionnaire. For your convenience, I have enclosed another questionnaire with a stamped, self-addressed envelope.

The numbering code is used solely for the purpose of recording questionnaire returns. All data will be grouped and will be treated anonymously.

Please complete and return the questionnaire by December 14, 1982.

If you have already completed and returned the questionnaire. please accept my thanks for your cooperation and assistance.

Yours sincerely,

F.T. Sonoda Department of Educational Administration University of Alberta